
Durham Irrigation District  Page 1 of 4 

DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT  
Meeting Agenda 

Regular Board Meeting 
Board of Directors: 

Matt Doyle, Chair; Kevin Phillips, Treasurer; Derek Sohnrey 
Wednesday, December 17, 2025 District Office 
5:30 PM 9341 Midway, Unit B 

Durham CA 95938 
COPY OF AGENDA and AGENDA PACKET AVAILABLE FROM: 

Durham Irrigation District Office or District Website Link 

ADDRESSING THE BOARD 
• Any person desiring to address the Board shall first secure permission of the presiding officer.
• Matters under the jurisdiction of the Board and not on the Agenda may be addressed by the Public 
at the time provided in the Agenda under Public Comment. The Board limits testimony on those items to
three minutes per person and no more than three individuals shall address the same subject.
• As required by Govt. Code Section 54957.5, any public record distributed to the Board of Directors 
less than 72 hours prior to this meeting in connection with any agenda item shall be made available for
public inspection at the Durham Irrigation District office, 9341 Midway, Unit B, Durham, CA 95938.
• Public records distributed during the meeting will be available for public inspection at the meeting 
if prepared by the District.
• If the public record is prepared by any other party and distributed at the meeting, it will be made
available for public inspection following the meeting at the District.
• Parties with a disability as provided by the Americans with Disabilities Act who require special
accommodations or aides to participate in the public meeting should make the request to the District
office three full business days prior to the meeting at (530) 343-1594.

1 CALL TO ORDER – 5:30 PM 

2 ROLL CALL / OPENING BUSINESS 

2.1 AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS AND/OR DELETIONS 

2.2 PUBLIC COMMENT 
Members of the public wishing to address the Board on items not listed on the Agenda:  
The Durham Irrigation District Board of Directors may take official action only on items included in the 
posted agenda for a specific scheduled meeting.  
Items addressed during the Public Comment section are generally matters not included on the agenda 
and therefore, the Board will not take action at this scheduled meeting. However, such items may be 
put on the agenda for a future meeting. The public shall have the opportunity to address items that are 
on the posted agenda. 
Speakers shall be limited to three minutes each. 

PDF PAGE 1 OF 58

http://www.didwater.org/


Board of Directors  Meeting Agenda December 17, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 2 of 4 

3 REPORTS/ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM DIRECTORS 

3.1  VINA GSA REPORT (Vina GSA Calendar Link) 
SUBJECT: Status report on Vina GSA. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

4 INFORMATION/CONSENT CALENDAR 
All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
unless an item is removed. Resolutions will be read by title only.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the Board, or persons in the 
audience, request specific items to be removed from the Consent Agenda to the Regular Agenda for 
separate discussion, prior to the time the Board votes on the motion to adopt the Consent Agenda.  
If any item(s) are removed from the Consent Agenda, the item(s) will be considered immediately following 
action on the Consent Agenda.  

4.1  Warrant Sheet from November 11, 2025 to December 10, 2025, including payments, 
deposits, and transaction adjustments.  
SUBJECT: Approve payments, deposits, and transaction adjustments. 
FISCAL IMPACT: See attachments. 
ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE 
ATTACHMENTS: 
4.1.1 2025-12 WARRANT SHEET DRAFT 
4.1.2 FINANCIALS (11.2025) 
4.1.3 BOARD RECAP, WATER SALES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AGING REPORT 

4.2  Board of Directors Meeting Minutes for October 8, 2025, October 15, 2025, and 
November 19, 2025. 
SUBJECT: Approve draft minutes. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE. 
ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE 
ATTACHMENTS: 
4.2A SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OCTOBER 8, 2025 - MINUTES 
4.2B REGULAR BOARD MEETING OCTOBER 15, 2025 - MINUTES 
4.2C REGULAR BOARD MEETING NOVEMBER 19, 2025 - MINUTES 

5 DISTRICT ENGINEER REPORT 

5.1  2026 District Budget and Capital Improvement Project List Approve 
SUBJECT: As part of its 2025-2030 strategic plan, the District directed the District 
Engineer to prepare a budget for 2026 and to adjust and update the District’s CIP list.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Approve 2026 District Budget and CIP Update. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
5.1 DID 2026 BUDGET SUMMARY AND CIP UPDATE (12.11.2025) FOR APPROVAL 

  

PDF PAGE 2 OF 58

https://www.vinagsa.org/calendar


Board of Directors Meeting Agenda December 17, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 3 of 4 

5.2 USBR Grant-Funded Meter Replacement and Lead Service Laterals Assessment Project 
SUBJECT: USBR Grant reimbursement update.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

6 DISTRICT OUTREACH REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Report by Nicole Johansson on the following areas: 
(a) Funding opportunities / legislative outreach
(b) Regroup Mass notification system – use of system - notification policy
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction.

7 WATER OPERATOR REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 

7.1 Monthly Water Operator Report 
SUBJECT: Report by water operator on previous month’s activities. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
7.1A WATER OPERATOR LOG FOR NOVEMBER 2025 – NOT AVAILABLE  
7.1B WORK ORDER STATUS REPORT FOR DECEMBER 2025 

8 DISTRICT COUNSEL REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Verbal report by counsel on district-related activities. See also regular agenda. 

9 REGULAR AGENDA 

9.1 Strategic Planning – Director Doyle 
SUBJECT: Updates on strategic planning action items and goals. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
9.1 STRATEGIC PLAN SUMMARY UPDATE (12.2025) 

9.2 Mass Notification Policy 
SUBJECT: Establish policy for use of mass notification system to the community. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Mass Notification Policy. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
9.2 MASS NOTIFICATION POLICY (11.19.2025) DRAFT 

9.3 Leak Adjustment Policy 
SUBJECT: Establish clear, consistent, and equitable guidelines for evaluating and 
granting leak adjustments for Durham Irrigation District customers. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Leak Adjustment Policy. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
9.3 LEAK ADJUSTMENT POLICY (12.17.2025) DRAFT 

PDF PAGE 3 OF 58



Board of Directors  Meeting Agenda December 17, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 4 of 4 

9.4  Customer Assistance Policy 
SUBJECT: Establish a Customer Assistance Program (CAP) to provide financial relief to 
eligible low-income residential customers by reducing their monthly service charge. The 
program is funded through voluntary customer donations and other contributions 
designated for CAP support. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Customer Assistance Policy. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
9.4 CUSTOMER ASSISTANCE POLICY (12.17.2025) DRAFT 

9.5  Investment Policy 
SUBJECT: Establish a policy to fulfill the District’s legal responsibility to safeguard and 
prudently manage organizational assets. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 
ATTACHMENTS: 
9.5 IN PROGRESS [DIRECTOR PHILLIPS] 

9.6  Staff Support 
SUBJECT: The District has a need for back up administrative support in ensure District 
office operations. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 

10 FUTURE AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION 
Opportunity for Board to discuss specific items for future board meetings. 

11 DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 
Opportunity for Board comments on items not listed on the agenda. 

12 ADJOURNMENT 
Upcoming meetings of the Durham Irrigation District Board of Directors: 

• Regular Board Meeting at 5:30 p.m. on January 21, 2026.  

All meetings held at the District office at 9341 Midway, Unit B unless otherwise noted.  

PDF PAGE 4 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Check Issue Date: 12/17/2025 Cash Balance Date
11/30/2025

Check No. Stmt Date Invoice Number Payee
 Invoice 
Amount 

Check Amount Notes
Financial 
Category

 $                16,403.33 

10523 Stipend Form - Matt Doyle 100.00$   12/17 - BOD  $               16,303.33 
10524 Stipend Form - Kevin Phillips 200.00$   12/17 - BOD; 12/10 Vina GSA  $               16,103.33 
10525 Stipend Form - Derek Sohnrey 100.00$   12/17 - BOD  $               16,003.33 

Subtotal Stipend 400.00$   $                16,003.33 

12/1/2025 16342 800.00$            800.00$   $               15,203.33 
10527 11/25/2025 591 394A 63.00$               63.00$  water quality testing - coliform  $               15,140.33 
10528 11/21/2025 6405-2065 Sierra Water Utility 441.18$  Nov 2025 chlorine  $               14,699.15 

Subtotal Water Operations $1,304.18  $                14,699.15 

12/2/2025 6405-2066 150.00$             $               14,549.15 
Subtotal Water System Repair $150.00  $                14,549.15 Subtotal Balance

10529 Sierra Water Utility 150.00$  labor - after hours service call - Acct 967

FGL Environmental

Subtotal Balance

Stipends

Subtotal Balance

Regular Water System Maintenance and Operations
10526 J.C. Hernandez November 2025 alley

Water System Emergency Repair/Replacement

2025 Warrant Sheet.xlsx / Dec 17 2025 Page 1 of 5

DRAFT

PDF PAGE 5 OF 58

4.1.1



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Check No. Stmt Date Invoice Number Payee
 Invoice 
Amount 

Check Amount Notes
Financial 
Category

10530 11/17/2025 DI-106 Arrow Construction Clean-Up 175.00$                      $               14,374.15 
10531 12/11/2025 - Kari and Richard Billson 950.00$                      $               13,424.15 
VISA 12/6/2025 Comcast Internet 165.20$                      $               13,258.95 
VISA 12/5/2025 Comcast Phone 89.04$                         $               13,169.91 
online debit 11/26/2025 FP Mailing Solutions 200.00$                     postage (online download)  $               12,969.91 
online debit 11/21/2025 - Go Daddy 287.64$                      $               12,682.27 
online debit 11/28/2025 Paychex 77.90$                        payroll fees + PTO accrual fee  $               12,604.37 
online debit 12/12/2025 Paychex 77.90$                        payroll fees + PTO accrual fee  $               12,526.47 

11/26/2025 - 101.42$            9341 Midway #B (New office) (1506000899-0)  $                  6,640.97 
11/24/2025 - 2,171.48$         Durham Dayton Rd 20'W (5773099695-6)  $                  6,640.97 
11/25/2025 - 1,569.95$        Holland Ave E/S & 500S Serviss (6812590736-7)  $                  6,640.97 
11/25/2025 - 10.08$                $                  6,640.97 
11/25/2025 - 2,032.57$         $                  6,640.97 
10/29/2025 855 100 374 5322 140.97$             $                  6,359.03 
11/24/2025 855 100 380 0413 140.97$             $                  6,359.03 

10533 11/30/2025 Sequoyah Software 130.00$                      $                  6,229.03 
10534 12/1/2025 4608 14F9-0062 Streamline 190.00$                      $                  6,039.03 

4/28/1982 12 73.75$               Sophos monthly scan - Dec 2025  $                  5,965.28 
VISA 11/20/2025 Staples 62.26$                        office supplies  $                  5,903.02 

Subtotal Utility $8,646.13  $                   5,903.02 Subtotal Balance

Nov  2025 billing software; email bill service
12/1/2025 - 1/1/2026 website host; ADA compliance

10535 Vista Net, Inc. 73.75$                        

Oct 2025 garbage service (Well 5)
Nov 2025 garbage service (Well 5)

Microsoft 365 email - 1 yr - BOD (3 emails)

10522 PGE 5,885.50$                 
Holland Ave S 300' 
9389 Goodspeed St (9856464057-5)

281.94$                     Recology10532

11/17 office cleaning
December 2025 Rent - 9341 Midway, Unit B
11/23/2025 - 12/22/2025 Internet only
11/15/2025 - 12/14/2025 phone only

Utility & Supplies

2025 Warrant Sheet.xlsx / Dec 17 2025 Page 2 of 5

DRAFT

PDF PAGE 6 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Check No. Stmt Date Invoice Number Payee
 Invoice 
Amount 

Check Amount Notes
Financial 
Category

online debit 11/28/2025 - Payroll withholdings 832.62$                     5,070.40$                 
online debit 12/12/2025 - Payroll withholdings 597.62$                     4,472.78$                 
online debit 11/28/2025 - Payroll 828.96$                     3,643.82$                 
online debit 12/12/2025 - Payroll 597.13$                     3,046.69$                 
Contractors 3,046.69$                 
10536 11/29/2025 8799 Sheryl Bosman 725.00$                     Bookkeeping Services - Nov 2025 2,321.69$                 

10539 12/4/2025 84885 NorthStar 3,386.25$                 (1,064.56)$                

10537 12/1/2025 1972 Sophia R. Meyer Law, P.C. 440.00$                     Legal Services (1,504.56)$                
10538 10/31/2025 - Minasian Law, LLP 1,309.00$                 Legal Services (2,813.56)$                
Water Operations (2,813.56)$                
10540 12/1/2025 6405-2059 Sierra Water Utility 3,720.00$                 Water Operator Services (6,533.56)$                

Subtotal Admin. Ops. & Mgmt. $12,436.58 (6,533.56)$                 

Check No. Stmt Date Invoice Number Payee
 Invoice 
Amount 

Check Amount Notes
Financial 
Category

Fees & Dues
online debit 12/2/2025 - PaySafe/PayStation Fee 464.12$                     "mtot" on bank statement (6,997.68)$                

Subtotal Fees & Reimbursables $464.12 (6,997.68)$                 

Other Expenses
NONE (6,997.68)$                 

$0.00 (6,997.68)$                 

Subtotal Balance

Other Expenses Subtotal Balance

Meetings - $ 528.75
Operational Support - $ 776.25
DUSD Easement - $ 0
Brown-Faber Pipeline Replacement - $ 0
CIP Budget/Rate Study - $ 2081.25
USBR Engineering - $ 0
Grant Application Support - $ 0

Subtotal Balance

Agency Fees, Association Dues & Reimbursables

District Administration, Operations & Management
Payroll & Insurance

2025 Warrant Sheet.xlsx / Dec 17 2025 Page 3 of 5

DRAFT

PDF PAGE 7 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Check No. Stmt Date Invoice Number Payee
 Invoice 
Amount 

Check Amount Notes
Financial 
Category

Contractor Project
NONE (6,997.68)$                

Subtotal Development Projects -$                               (6,997.68)$                 

23,759.46$     

(7,356.13)$             
343.76$                   

-$                           

(7,012.37)$             

Petty Cash
12/10/2025 Comcast Gift Card 19.66$                        
11/12/2025 Cash on Hand 101.01$                     not reconciled this month

Balance Remaining On Hand 120.67$                      

Date
CK/Pmt 
Refund

Status Paid to Check Amount Notes

12/5/2025 ACH CREDIT CARD PMT TriCounties Bank Visa Acct -1530 358.45$                     

 TOTAL CC 
PMT 

358.45$                      

Director Signature Director Signature

Date Date

Check / Payment Refund / Cancel or Void Check Register

Payment of 11/30//2025 billing cycle credit card statement. Some of these 
charges were previously reported as line items "VISA" on 11/2025 warrant 
and some appear on this warrant.

  

SUBTOTAL PAYMENTS

Subtotal Remaining Balance
CREDIT CARD PAYMENT

Check Refund/Cancelled Register Total

TOTAL REMAINING BALANCE

Development Projects

2025 Warrant Sheet.xlsx / Dec 17 2025 Page 4 of 5

DRAFT

PDF PAGE 8 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Date Deposit Deposit Amount Other Notes
11/8/2025 Cash/Check Deposit  $                 1,709.58 

11/10/2025 Cash/Check Deposit 4,853.29$                 
11/17/2025 Cash/Check Deposit 5,699.51$                 
11/19/2025 Cash/Check Deposit 1,453.64$                 
11/19/2025 Cash/Check Deposit 4,082.85$                 
11/19/2025 Cash/Check Deposit 5,642.94$                 

11/01/2025-11/30/2025 Paystation Deposits 11,130.89$              Includes $367.04 in credit card fees collected.
Subtotal Water Sales Deposits 34,572.70$               No Meter fees collected.

Water Meter Sales Location
NONE
Bank Adjustments & Other Notes
NONE

Other -$                               
Total Deposits 34,572.70$               

NONE
Total Development Project Deposits -$                             

Director Signature Director Signature

Date Date

Deposit Register for Development Projects Account

Deposit Register

2025 Warrant Sheet.xlsx / Dec 17 2025 Page 5 of 5

DRAFT

PDF PAGE 9 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Balance Sheet

 As of November 30, 2025
Nov 30, 25

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

Current Assets

Cash 16,403.33

Cash on Hand 120.67

Development Fees 36,660.24

Savings 1,384.40

DID CLASS 118,875.48

Main CLASS 85,418.86

Total Current Assets 258,862.98

Total Checking/Savings 258,862.98

Other Current Assets

Taxes Receivable 751.54

A/R -751.54

Total Other Current Assets 0.00

Total Current Assets 258,862.98

Fixed Assets

CAPITAL ASSETS

Depreciable Assets

Equipment 152,825.43

Mains 623,540.00

Pumps 172,575.00

Structures 16,084.00

Wells 127,486.00

Less Accum. Dep'n -434,456.00

Total Depreciable Assets 658,054.43

Total CAPITAL ASSETS 658,054.43

Non-Depreciable Assets
Land 20,331.00

Total Non-Depreciable Assets 20,331.00

Total Fixed Assets 678,385.43

Other Assets
Deposits 5,688.00

Total Other Assets 5,688.00
TOTAL ASSETS 942,936.41

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Equity

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Asset 566,549.00

Total NET POSITION 566,549.00

Unrestricted Net Assets 386,892.71

Net Income -10,505.30

Total Equity 942,936.41
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 942,936.41

 Page 1 of 1PDF PAGE 10 OF 58

4.1.2



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025
Jan 25 Feb 25 Mar 25 Apr 25 May 25 Jun 25 Jul 25 Aug 25 Sep 25

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Water Sales Income

OPERATING REVENUES

Demand Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 90.00 30.00 30.00 60.00

Water Sales 31,129.85 28,323.51 31,215.90 34,942.46 27,070.91 44,488.12 43,317.78 48,329.56 41,087.24

Total OPERATING REVENUES 31,129.85 28,323.51 31,215.90 34,942.46 27,070.91 44,578.12 43,347.78 48,359.56 41,147.24

Total Water Sales Income 31,129.85 28,323.51 31,215.90 34,942.46 27,070.91 44,578.12 43,347.78 48,359.56 41,147.24

Credit Card Fee Income 0.00 0.00 169.82 323.45 233.85 386.29 471.28 519.84 1,139.05

Total Income 31,129.85 28,323.51 31,385.72 35,265.91 27,304.76 44,964.41 43,819.06 48,879.40 42,286.29

Expense

Contract Services

Accounting Fees 725.00 1,410.00 10,350.00 550.00 0.00 1,000.00 625.00 575.00 550.00

Engineering Support 4,052.32 5,547.25 5,915.50 6,402.50 0.00 10,732.00 690.00 1,741.25 2,765.00

Legal Fees 0.00 2,479.00 999.00 1,165.50 0.00 2,534.50 1,498.50 740.00 1,276.50

Management & Administration 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,255.00 1,235.00 2,568.75 775.00 0.00 190.54

Total Contract Services 4,777.32 9,436.25 17,264.50 9,373.00 1,235.00 16,835.25 3,588.50 3,056.25 4,782.04

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration

Board Stipends 400.00 300.00 300.00 700.00 0.00 800.00 300.00 800.00 400.00

District Wages, Taxes, Insur.

Insurance 1,018.86 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,966.42 -181.50 50.00 0.00

Payroll Service Fees 396.20 150.20 150.20 150.20 75.10 213.80 155.80 155.80 155.80

Payroll Tax Expense 792.42 251.75 248.62 223.79 154.63 242.91 172.62 235.03 208.04

Property Taxes 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Wages 3,557.40 2,160.90 2,579.85 2,925.30 2,021.25 3,175.20 2,256.45 3,072.30 2,719.50

Total District Wages, Taxes, Insur. 5,764.88 2,562.85 2,978.67 3,299.29 2,250.98 9,598.33 2,403.37 3,513.13 3,083.34

Fees, Dues, Memberships 6,991.56 0.00 0.00 1,331.79 0.00 0.00 16.75 1,158.19 0.00

Office Expense

Meals 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 140.81 0.00 0.00 0.00

Moving Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 406.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Postage 300.00 200.00 417.62 0.00 400.00 300.00 173.90 600.00 6.08

Software 73.75 551.25 100.17 133.75 129.99 943.95 634.23 76.25 73.75

 Page 1 of 6PDF PAGE 11 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025
Jan 25 Feb 25 Mar 25 Apr 25 May 25 Jun 25 Jul 25 Aug 25 Sep 25

Supplies 0.00 0.00 174.16 50.72 0.00 865.14 0.00 355.27 2,487.81

Website Hosting 190.00 190.00 190.00 190.00 0.00 380.00 190.00 190.00 190.00

Total Office Expense 563.75 941.25 881.95 780.47 529.99 2,629.90 998.13 1,221.52 2,757.64

Rent 650.00 650.00 650.00 2,766.13 0.00 950.00 1,062.36 950.00 950.00

Software Fees 130.00 130.00 250.00 130.00 0.00 260.00 130.00 130.00 130.00

Utilities

Garbage 137.29 140.97 140.97 140.97 0.00 281.94 140.97 140.97 140.97

Gas & Electric 10,193.92 6,717.37 6,259.87 5,975.83 5,141.88 8,070.23 9,704.72 21,557.21 12,938.71

Telephone/Internet 181.70 191.76 388.34 272.36 0.00 0.00 598.55 414.16 244.62

Total Utilities 10,512.91 7,050.10 6,789.18 6,389.16 5,141.88 8,352.17 10,444.24 22,112.34 13,324.30

Water System Maint,Repair,Repl

Regular Operations & Maint

O & M Supplies 2,292.93 886.98 416.36 289.10 0.00 1,032.50 1,590.30 1,914.98 1,648.58

Water Testing Fees 131.40 329.56 63.00 703.00 0.00 246.00 97.00 2,639.00 63.00

Weed Management 800.00 800.00 800.00 800.00 0.00 1,600.00 800.00 800.00 0.00

Total Regular Operations & Maint 3,224.33 2,016.54 1,279.36 1,792.10 0.00 2,878.50 2,487.30 5,353.98 1,711.58

Water System Repair & Repl.+

Repairs & Maint. 620.02 3,332.60 0.00 3,763.90 0.00 15,225.30 1,750.00 787.50 2,621.00

Repair Supplies 0.00 0.00 0.00 61.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Water Operator 3,558.71 3,558.71 3,558.71 3,558.71 0.00 7,278.71 3,720.00 3,720.00 3,720.00

Total Water System Repair & Repl.+ 4,178.73 6,891.31 3,558.71 7,383.79 0.00 22,504.01 5,470.00 4,507.50 6,341.00

Total Water System Maint,Repair,Repl 7,403.06 8,907.85 4,838.07 9,175.89 0.00 25,382.51 7,957.30 9,861.48 8,052.58

Total Administration 32,416.16 20,542.05 16,687.87 24,572.73 7,922.85 47,972.91 23,312.15 39,746.66 28,697.86

Bank Service Charges 408.59 331.49 362.31 370.37 377.64 367.59 454.91 408.23 528.32

Total OPERATING EXPENSES 32,824.75 20,873.54 17,050.18 24,943.10 8,300.49 48,340.50 23,767.06 40,154.89 29,226.18

Total Expense 37,602.07 30,309.79 34,314.68 34,316.10 9,535.49 65,175.75 27,355.56 43,211.14 34,008.22

Net Ordinary Income -6,472.22 -1,986.28 -2,928.96 949.81 17,769.27 -20,211.34 16,463.50 5,668.26 8,278.07

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Cash Rewards 8.76 0.00 0.00 113.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 35.60 0.00

Interest Income 616.22 508.90 429.73 417.30 428.72 415.78 431.00 430.75 413.24

 Page 2 of 6PDF PAGE 12 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025
Jan 25 Feb 25 Mar 25 Apr 25 May 25 Jun 25 Jul 25 Aug 25 Sep 25

Total NON-OPERATING REVENUE 624.98 508.90 429.73 530.84 428.72 415.78 431.00 466.35 413.24

Total Other Income 624.98 508.90 429.73 530.84 428.72 415.78 431.00 466.35 413.24

Net Other Income 624.98 508.90 429.73 530.84 428.72 415.78 431.00 466.35 413.24
Net Income -5,847.24 -1,477.38 -2,499.23 1,480.65 18,197.99 -19,795.56 16,894.50 6,134.61 8,691.31

 Page 3 of 6PDF PAGE 13 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Water Sales Income

OPERATING REVENUES

Demand Fees
Water Sales

Total OPERATING REVENUES

Total Water Sales Income
Credit Card Fee Income

Total Income

Expense

Contract Services

Accounting Fees

Engineering Support

Legal Fees
Management & Administration

Total Contract Services

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration

Board Stipends

District Wages, Taxes, Insur.

Insurance

Payroll Service Fees

Payroll Tax Expense

Property Taxes
Wages

Total District Wages, Taxes, Insur.

Fees, Dues, Memberships

Office Expense

Meals

Moving Expense

Postage

Software

Oct 25 Nov 25 TOTAL

0.00 0.00 210.00

41,269.78 34,572.70 405,747.81

41,269.78 34,572.70 405,957.81

41,269.78 34,572.70 405,957.81

350.89 0.00 3,594.47

41,620.67 34,572.70 409,552.28

11,075.00 675.00 27,535.00

1,097.50 1,820.00 40,763.32

555.00 3,885.00 15,133.00

1,150.00 1,656.25 8,830.54

13,877.50 8,036.25 92,261.86

600.00 300.00 4,900.00

0.00 1,000.00 7,853.78

233.70 155.80 1,992.60

324.44 257.52 3,111.77

15.24 0.00 15.24

4,240.95 3,366.30 32,075.40

4,814.33 4,779.62 45,048.79

0.00 3,820.97 13,319.26

0.00 0.00 140.81

0.00 0.00 406.00

200.00 650.00 3,247.60

133.75 76.25 2,927.09

 Page 4 of 6PDF PAGE 14 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025

 Supplies
Website Hosting

Total Office Expense

Rent

Software Fees

Utilities

Garbage

Gas & Electric
Telephone/Internet

Total Utilities

Water System Maint,Repair,Repl

Regular Operations & Maint

O & M Supplies

Water Testing Fees
Weed Management

Total Regular Operations & Maint

Water System Repair & Repl.+

Repairs & Maint.

Repair Supplies
Water Operator

Total Water System Repair & Repl.+

Total Water System Maint,Repair,Repl

Total Administration
Bank Service Charges

Total OPERATING EXPENSES

Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Cash Rewards
Interest Income

Oct 25 Nov 25 TOTAL

416.57 0.00 4,349.67

190.00 190.00 2,090.00

940.32 916.25 13,161.17

1,062.36 950.00 10,640.85

130.00 3,630.00 5,050.00

0.00 140.97 1,406.02

12,314.70 8,809.17 107,683.61

485.60 690.31 3,467.40

12,800.30 9,640.45 112,557.03

1,313.28 718.20 12,103.21

361.00 217.00 4,849.96

1,600.00 2,300.00 10,300.00

3,274.28 3,235.20 27,253.17

5,050.00 24,416.32 57,566.64

13.92 0.00 75.10

3,720.00 3,720.00 40,113.55

8,783.92 28,136.32 97,755.29

12,058.20 31,371.52 125,008.46

32,405.51 55,408.81 329,685.56

372.80 446.41 4,428.66

32,778.31 55,855.22 334,114.22

46,655.81 63,891.47 426,376.08

-5,035.14 -29,318.77 -16,823.80

0.00 58.91 216.81

1,344.82 665.23 6,101.69

 Page 5 of 6PDF PAGE 15 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025

 Total NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Total Other Income

Net Other Income
Net Income

Oct 25 Nov 25 TOTAL

1,344.82 724.14 6,318.50

1,344.82 724.14 6,318.50

1,344.82 724.14 6,318.50
-3,690.32 -28,594.63 -10,505.30

 Page 6 of 6PDF PAGE 16 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Water Sales Income

OPERATING REVENUES

Demand Fees

Meter Sales
Water Sales

Total OPERATING REVENUES

Total Water Sales Income
Credit Card Fee Income

Total Income

Expense

Contract Services

Accounting Fees

Engineering Support

Legal Fees
Management & Administration

Total Contract Services

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration

Board Stipends

District Wages, Taxes, Insur.

Insurance

Payroll Service Fees

Payroll Tax Expense

Property Taxes
Wages

Total District Wages, Taxes, Insur.

Fees, Dues, Memberships

Office Expense

Meals

Moving Expense

Postage

Software

Supplies
Website Hosting

Total Office Expense

Rent

Software Fees

Utilities

Garbage

Gas & Electric
Telephone/Internet

Total Utilities

TOTAL

Jan - Nov 25 Jan - Nov 24 $ Change % Change

210.00 240.00 -30.00 -12.5%

0.00 3,909.36 -3,909.36 -100.0%

405,747.81 407,274.17 -1,526.36 -0.38%

405,957.81 411,423.53 -5,465.72 -1.33%

405,957.81 411,423.53 -5,465.72 -1.33%

3,594.47 0.00 3,594.47 100.0%

409,552.28 411,423.53 -1,871.25 -0.46%

27,535.00 24,960.66 2,574.34 10.31%

40,763.32 49,840.00 -9,076.68 -18.21%

15,133.00 13,538.00 1,595.00 11.78%

8,830.54 9,466.41 -635.87 -6.72%

92,261.86 97,805.07 -5,543.21 -5.67%

4,900.00 3,800.00 1,100.00 28.95%

7,853.78 8,125.71 -271.93 -3.35%

1,992.60 2,020.30 -27.70 -1.37%

3,111.77 2,770.84 340.93 12.3%

15.24 12.18 3.06 25.12%

32,075.40 30,937.20 1,138.20 3.68%

45,048.79 43,866.23 1,182.56 2.7%

13,319.26 8,382.94 4,936.32 58.89%

140.81 0.00 140.81 100.0%

406.00 0.00 406.00 100.0%

3,247.60 2,850.00 397.60 13.95%

2,927.09 309.87 2,617.22 844.62%

4,349.67 1,617.20 2,732.47 168.96%

2,090.00 924.00 1,166.00 126.19%

13,161.17 5,701.07 7,460.10 130.85%

10,640.85 7,531.98 3,108.87 41.28%

5,050.00 2,052.69 2,997.31 146.02%

1,406.02 1,369.37 36.65 2.68%

107,683.61 85,865.52 21,818.09 25.41%

3,467.40 3,562.70 -95.30 -2.68%

112,557.03 90,797.59 21,759.44 23.97%

 Page 1 of 2PDF PAGE 17 OF 58



 Durham Irrigation District
 Profit & Loss

 January through November 2025

 Water System Maint,Repair,Repl

Regular Operations & Maint

O & M Supplies

Water Testing Fees
Weed Management

Total Regular Operations & Maint

Water System Repair & Repl.+

Repairs & Maint.

Repair Supplies

Contractor
Water Operator

Total Water System Repair & Repl.+

Total Water System Maint,Repair,Repl

Total Administration
Bank Service Charges

Total OPERATING EXPENSES

Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Cash Rewards
Interest Income

Total NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Total Other Income

Other Expense

Special District Projects

Expenses
Development Project Fees

Total Expenses

Total Special District Projects

Total Other Expense

Net Other Income
Net Income

TOTAL

Jan - Nov 25 Jan - Nov 24 $ Change % Change

12,103.21 13,042.69 -939.48 -7.2%

4,849.96 5,690.80 -840.84 -14.78%

10,300.00 9,645.00 655.00 6.79%

27,253.17 28,378.49 -1,125.32 -3.97%

57,566.64 18,226.04 39,340.60 215.85%

75.10 0.00 75.10 100.0%

0.00 6,185.24 -6,185.24 -100.0%

40,113.55 39,145.84 967.71 2.47%

97,755.29 63,557.12 34,198.17 53.81%

125,008.46 91,935.61 33,072.85 35.97%

329,685.56 254,068.11 75,617.45 29.76%

4,428.66 4,179.51 249.15 5.96%

334,114.22 258,247.62 75,866.60 29.38%

426,376.08 356,052.69 70,323.39 19.75%

-16,823.80 55,370.84 -72,194.64 -130.38%

216.81 0.00 216.81 100.0%

6,101.69 6,649.52 -547.83 -8.24%

6,318.50 6,649.52 -331.02 -4.98%

6,318.50 6,649.52 -331.02 -4.98%

0.00 92.50 -92.50 -100.0%

0.00 92.50 -92.50 -100.0%

0.00 92.50 -92.50 -100.0%

0.00 92.50 -92.50 -100.0%

6,318.50 6,557.02 -238.52 -3.64%
-10,505.30 61,927.86 -72,433.16 -116.96%

 Page 2 of 2PDF PAGE 18 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

Current Assets 287,457.61
Cash 42,663.19

11/03/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,486.70 44,149.89
11/03/2025 Deposit Deposit 100.17 44,250.06
11/03/2025 Postalia -200.00 44,050.06
11/03/2025 Bank Charge -446.41 43,603.65
11/04/2025 Deposit Deposit 356.96 43,960.61
11/05/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,079.03 45,039.64
11/06/2025 Deposit Deposit 415.60 45,455.24
11/06/2025 Deposit Deposit 13,000.00 58,455.24
11/07/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,092.02 59,547.26
11/07/2025 Postalia -250.00 59,297.26
11/10/2025 Visa -343.76 58,953.50
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit 392.36 59,345.86
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit 381.64 59,727.50
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit 177.48 59,904.98
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,709.58 61,614.56
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit 4,853.29 66,467.85
11/12/2025 Deposit Deposit 712.55 67,180.40
11/13/2025 Deposit Deposit 309.89 67,490.29
11/13/2025 Wages -957.28 66,533.01
11/13/2025 California CLASS -13,000.00 53,533.01
11/14/2025 Deposit Deposit 78.20 53,611.21
11/14/2025 Paychex -77.90 53,533.31
11/14/2025 Payroll Taxes -1,004.96 52,528.35
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit 5,699.51 58,227.86
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,571.17 59,799.03
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit 330.35 60,129.38
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit 258.25 60,387.63
11/18/2025 Deposit Deposit 155.71 60,543.34
11/19/2025 10497 James M. Doyle Nov 2025 -100.00 60,443.34
11/19/2025 10498 Kevin Phillips Nov 2025 -100.00 60,343.34
11/19/2025 10499 Derek Sohnrey Nov 2025 -100.00 60,243.34
11/19/2025 10500 JC Hernandez Maint... Oct 2025 alley and annual well clea... -2,300.00 57,943.34
11/19/2025 10501 FGL Environmental -217.00 57,726.34
11/19/2025 10502 Sierra Water Utility chlorine -718.20 57,008.14
11/19/2025 10503 Xio Inc. annual SCADA monitoring -5,913.00 51,095.14
11/19/2025 10504 Sierra Water Utility Brown Faber/Romac repairs -3,899.32 47,195.82
11/19/2025 10505 Walberg Inc. Tracy Ranch Rd/Brown Street -14,604.00 32,591.82
11/19/2025 10506 Arrow Contruction Cl... office cleaning -175.00 32,416.82
11/19/2025 10507 Richard Billson Nov 2025 rent -950.00 31,466.82
11/19/2025 10508 PINS Advantage cert of insurance tracking service -1,000.00 30,466.82
11/19/2025 10496 PG & E -8,809.17 21,657.65
11/19/2025 10509 Recology garbage service - well 5 -140.97 21,516.68
11/19/2025 10510 Regroup -3,500.00 18,016.68
11/19/2025 10511 Sequoyah software fees -130.00 17,886.68
11/19/2025 10521 Streamline -190.00 17,696.68
11/19/2025 10513 Vista Net Inc. -76.25 17,620.43
11/19/2025 10514 Sheryl Bosman Oct 2025 -675.00 16,945.43
11/19/2025 10515 Nicole Lee Johnasson Sept/Oct 2025 -1,481.25 15,464.18
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering -1,820.00 13,644.18
11/19/2025 10517 Prentice Long, PC legal services -3,885.00 9,759.18
11/19/2025 10518 Sierra Water Utility -3,720.00 6,039.18
11/19/2025 10519 California Special Di... 2026 membership -1,705.00 4,334.18
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit 5,642.94 9,977.12
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit 4,082.85 14,059.97
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,453.64 15,513.61
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit 387.43 15,901.04
11/19/2025 10520 Jeannie Trizzino CSDA 2025 board secretary confere... -2,115.97 13,785.07
11/20/2025 Deposit Deposit 198.50 13,983.57
11/21/2025 Deposit Deposit 1,267.20 15,250.77
11/21/2025 Deposit Deposit 3,000.00 18,250.77
11/21/2025 Godaddy.com -287.64 17,963.13
11/24/2025 Deposit Deposit 114.17 18,077.30
11/26/2025 Deposit Deposit 265.51 18,342.81
11/26/2025 Wages -828.96 17,513.85
11/28/2025 Payroll Taxes -832.62 16,681.23
11/28/2025 Paychex -77.90 16,603.33

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 1

PDF PAGE 19 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

11/28/2025 Postalia -200.00 16,403.33

Total Cash -26,259.86 16,403.33

Cash on Hand 120.67
Total Cash on Hand 120.67

Development Fees 36,660.24
Total Development Fees 36,660.24

Savings 14,384.37
11/06/2025 Deposit Deposit -13,000.00 1,384.37
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit 0.03 1,384.40

Total Savings -12,999.97 1,384.40

DID CLASS 118,482.23
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit 393.25 118,875.48

Total DID CLASS 393.25 118,875.48

Main CLASS 75,146.91
11/13/2025 California CLASS 13,000.00 88,146.91
11/21/2025 Deposit Deposit -3,000.00 85,146.91
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit 271.95 85,418.86

Total Main CLASS 10,271.95 85,418.86

Total Current Assets -28,594.63 258,862.98

Taxes Receivable 751.54
Total Taxes Receivable 751.54

A/R -751.54
Total A/R -751.54

CAPITAL ASSETS 658,054.43
Depreciable Assets 658,054.43

Equipment 152,825.43
Total Equipment 152,825.43

Mains 623,540.00
Total Mains 623,540.00

Pumps 172,575.00
Total Pumps 172,575.00

Structures 16,084.00
Total Structures 16,084.00

Wells 127,486.00
Total Wells 127,486.00

Less Accum. Dep'n -434,456.00
Total Less Accum. Dep'n -434,456.00

Total Depreciable Assets 658,054.43

Total CAPITAL ASSETS 658,054.43

Non-Depreciable Assets 20,331.00
Land 20,331.00
Total Land 20,331.00

Total Non-Depreciable Assets 20,331.00

Deposits 5,688.00
Total Deposits 5,688.00

NET POSITION -566,549.00
Net Investment in Capital Asset -566,549.00

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 2

PDF PAGE 20 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

Total Net Investment in Capital Asset -566,549.00

Total NET POSITION -566,549.00

Unrestricted Net Assets -386,892.71
Total Unrestricted Net Assets -386,892.71

Water Sales Income -371,385.11
OPERATING REVENUES -371,385.11

Demand Fees -210.00
Total Demand Fees -210.00

Water Sales -371,175.11
11/03/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,486.70 -372,661.81
11/03/2025 Deposit Deposit -100.17 -372,761.98
11/04/2025 Deposit Deposit -356.96 -373,118.94
11/05/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,079.03 -374,197.97
11/06/2025 Deposit Deposit -415.60 -374,613.57
11/07/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,092.02 -375,705.59
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit -392.36 -376,097.95
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit -381.64 -376,479.59
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit -177.48 -376,657.07
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,709.58 -378,366.65
11/10/2025 Deposit Deposit -4,853.29 -383,219.94
11/12/2025 Deposit Deposit -712.55 -383,932.49
11/13/2025 Deposit Deposit -309.89 -384,242.38
11/14/2025 Deposit Deposit -78.20 -384,320.58
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit -5,699.51 -390,020.09
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,571.17 -391,591.26
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit -330.35 -391,921.61
11/17/2025 Deposit Deposit -258.25 -392,179.86
11/18/2025 Deposit Deposit -155.71 -392,335.57
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit -5,642.94 -397,978.51
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit -4,082.85 -402,061.36
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,453.64 -403,515.00
11/19/2025 Deposit Deposit -387.43 -403,902.43
11/20/2025 Deposit Deposit -198.50 -404,100.93
11/21/2025 Deposit Deposit -1,267.20 -405,368.13
11/24/2025 Deposit Deposit -114.17 -405,482.30
11/26/2025 Deposit Deposit -265.51 -405,747.81

Total Water Sales -34,572.70 -405,747.81

Total OPERATING REVENUES -34,572.70 -405,957.81

Total Water Sales Income -34,572.70 -405,957.81

Credit Card Fee Income -3,594.47
Total Credit Card Fee Income -3,594.47

Contract Services 84,225.61
Accounting Fees 26,860.00

11/19/2025 10514 Sheryl Bosman Oct 2025 675.00 27,535.00

Total Accounting Fees 675.00 27,535.00

Engineering Support 38,943.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering Brown-Faber pipeline repl. 38,943.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering CIP budget/rate study 38,943.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering USBR engineering 38,943.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering grant application support 38,943.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering operational support 585.00 39,528.32
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering meetings 1,235.00 40,763.32

Total Engineering Support 1,820.00 40,763.32

Legal Fees 11,248.00
11/19/2025 10517 Prentice Long, PC legal services 3,885.00 15,133.00

Total Legal Fees 3,885.00 15,133.00

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 3

PDF PAGE 21 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

Management & Administration 7,174.29
11/19/2025 10506 Arrow Contruction Cl... office cleaning 175.00 7,349.29
11/19/2025 10515 Nicole Lee Johnasson Sept/Oct 2025 1,481.25 8,830.54
11/19/2025 10516 Northstar Engineering mileage 8,830.54

Total Management & Administration 1,656.25 8,830.54

Total Contract Services 8,036.25 92,261.86

OPERATING EXPENSES 278,259.00
Administration 274,276.75

Board Stipends 4,600.00
11/19/2025 10497 James M. Doyle Nov 2025 100.00 4,700.00
11/19/2025 10498 Kevin Phillips Nov 2025 100.00 4,800.00
11/19/2025 10499 Derek Sohnrey Nov 2025 100.00 4,900.00

Total Board Stipends 300.00 4,900.00

District Wages, Taxes, Insur. 40,269.17
Insurance 6,853.78

11/19/2025 10508 PINS Advantage cert of insurance tracking service 1,000.00 7,853.78

Total Insurance 1,000.00 7,853.78

Payroll Service Fees 1,836.80
11/14/2025 Paychex 77.90 1,914.70
11/28/2025 Paychex 77.90 1,992.60

Total Payroll Service Fees 155.80 1,992.60

Payroll Tax Expense 2,854.25
11/13/2025 Wages -865.52 1,988.73
11/14/2025 Payroll Taxes 1,004.96 2,993.69
11/26/2025 Wages -714.54 2,279.15
11/28/2025 Payroll Taxes 832.62 3,111.77

Total Payroll Tax Expense 257.52 3,111.77

Property Taxes 15.24
Total Property Taxes 15.24

Wages 28,709.10
11/13/2025 Wages 1,822.80 30,531.90
11/26/2025 Wages 1,543.50 32,075.40

Total Wages 3,366.30 32,075.40

Total District Wages, Taxes, Insur. 4,779.62 45,048.79

Fees, Dues, Memberships 9,498.29
11/19/2025 10519 California Special Di... 2026 membership 1,705.00 11,203.29
11/19/2025 10520 Jeannie Trizzino CSDA 2025 board secretary confere... 2,115.97 13,319.26

Total Fees, Dues, Memberships 3,820.97 13,319.26

Office Expense 12,244.92
Meals 140.81
Total Meals 140.81

Moving Expense 406.00
Total Moving Expense 406.00

Postage 2,597.60
11/03/2025 Postalia 200.00 2,797.60
11/07/2025 Postalia 250.00 3,047.60
11/28/2025 Postalia 200.00 3,247.60

Total Postage 650.00 3,247.60

Software 2,850.84
11/19/2025 10513 Vista Net Inc. 76.25 2,927.09

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 4

PDF PAGE 22 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

Total Software 76.25 2,927.09

Supplies 4,349.67
Total Supplies 4,349.67

Website Hosting 1,900.00
11/19/2025 10521 Streamline 190.00 2,090.00

Total Website Hosting 190.00 2,090.00

Total Office Expense 916.25 13,161.17

Rent 9,690.85
11/19/2025 10507 Richard Billson Nov 2025 rent 950.00 10,640.85

Total Rent 950.00 10,640.85

Software Fees 1,420.00
11/19/2025 10510 Regroup 3,500.00 4,920.00
11/19/2025 10511 Sequoyah software fees 130.00 5,050.00

Total Software Fees 3,630.00 5,050.00

Utilities 102,916.58
Garbage 1,265.05

11/19/2025 10509 Recology garbage service - well 5 140.97 1,406.02

Total Garbage 140.97 1,406.02

Gas & Electric 98,874.44
11/19/2025 10496 PG & E 8,809.17 107,683.61

Total Gas & Electric 8,809.17 107,683.61

Telephone/Internet 2,777.09
11/10/2025 Visa Comcast 156.95 2,934.04
11/10/2025 Visa Comcast 88.77 3,022.81
11/10/2025 Visa Comcast 156.95 3,179.76
11/21/2025 Godaddy.com 287.64 3,467.40

Total Telephone/Internet 690.31 3,467.40

Total Utilities 9,640.45 112,557.03

Water System Maint,Repair,Repl 93,636.94
Regular Operations & Maint 24,017.97

O & M Supplies 11,385.01
11/19/2025 10502 Sierra Water Utility chlorine 718.20 12,103.21

Total O & M Supplies 718.20 12,103.21

Water Testing Fees 4,632.96
11/19/2025 10501 FGL Environmental 217.00 4,849.96

Total Water Testing Fees 217.00 4,849.96

Weed Management 8,000.00
11/19/2025 10500 JC Hernandez Maint... Oct 2025 alley and annual well clea... 2,300.00 10,300.00

Total Weed Management 2,300.00 10,300.00

Total Regular Operations & Maint 3,235.20 27,253.17

Water System Repair & Repl.+ 69,618.97
Repairs & Maint. 33,150.32

11/19/2025 10503 Xio Inc. annual SCADA monitoring 5,913.00 39,063.32
11/19/2025 10504 Sierra Water Utility Brown Faber/Romac repairs 3,899.32 42,962.64
11/19/2025 10505 Walberg Inc. repair leak on main line at 1816 Holl... 14,604.00 57,566.64

Total Repairs & Maint. 24,416.32 57,566.64

Repair Supplies 75.10

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 5

PDF PAGE 23 OF 58



Date Num Name Memo Paid Amount Balance

Total Repair Supplies 75.10

Water Operator 36,393.55
11/19/2025 10518 Sierra Water Utility 3,720.00 40,113.55

Total Water Operator 3,720.00 40,113.55

Total Water System Repair & Repl.+ 28,136.32 97,755.29

Total Water System Maint,Repair,Repl 31,371.52 125,008.46

Total Administration 55,408.81 329,685.56

Bank Service Charges 3,982.25
11/03/2025 Bank Charge 446.41 4,428.66

Total Bank Service Charges 446.41 4,428.66

Total OPERATING EXPENSES 55,855.22 334,114.22

NON-OPERATING REVENUE -5,594.36
Cash Rewards -157.90

11/10/2025 Visa cashback reward -58.91 -216.81

Total Cash Rewards -58.91 -216.81

Interest Income -5,436.46
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit -0.03 -5,436.49
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit -393.25 -5,829.74
11/29/2025 Deposit Deposit -271.95 -6,101.69

Total Interest Income -665.23 -6,101.69

Total NON-OPERATING REVENUE -724.14 -6,318.50

TOTAL 0.00 0.00

Durham Irrigation District
General Ledger

As of November 29, 2025

Page 6

PDF PAGE 24 OF 58



12/12/2025 1

Amount Count

Durham Irrigation District
Monthly Billing Recap 11/1/2025 thru 11/30/2025

Current Balance

Water Purchased or Produced this month 0
Water Sold this month
Water System used or accountable loss

17,333
0

17,333Water Loss

40,566.90 474
256.65 132

0.00 52
860.00 17

Total Water Sales this month
Total Penalties this month
Total Adjustments this month
Total of other charges this month
Total Current Charges 41,683.55

0.00 %

30 Days Past Due
60 Days Past Due
90 Days Past Due

4,030.77 28
1,946.43 17

638.34 34
Total Accounts Receivable 12,768.58

34,680.99 351Total Payments Received

0.00 3

47512,055.31
102713.27

00.00

New Memberships

Active Accounts
InActive Accounts
Forfeiture Accounts

36
85.58

Average Water Usage
Average Water Charge

0 0 0 0
Low Range High Range Usage Count

0
1

2,001
4,001
6,001
8,001

10,001
20,001
30,001
40,001
50,001

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
20,000
30,000
40,000
50,000

999,999,999

0 106
17,333 368

0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0

Sales/Charges this Month
Adjustments this Month
Less: Payments this Month

Accounts Receivable Last Month Ending

Accounts Receivable Total 

0.00
34,680.99

41,683.55

0.00
0.00

100.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

%Usage
0.00

6,853.28
33,713.62

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

Sales
0.00

16.89
83.11

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

%Sales

5,766.02

12,768.5812,768.58

6,153.04 205

17,333 474 40,566.90

PDF PAGE 25 OF 58

4.1.3



12/12/2025

 Pump 
Year/Month Purchased Sold Loss Pct

Total

2024/11 18,86612,614 6,252 49.6
2024/12 8,58410,084 -1,500 -14.9
2025/01 4,2259,705 -5,480 -56.5
2025/02 5,1458,137 -2,992 -36.8
2025/03 4,36610,566 -6,200 -58.7
2025/04 3,83815,546 -11,708 -75.3
2025/05 7,11224,200 -17,088 -70.6
2025/06 17,16431,328 -14,164 -45.2
2025/07 18,29731,205 -12,908 -41.4
2025/08 23,82127,955 -4,134 -14.8
2025/09 18,00929,366 -11,357 -38.7
2025/10 18,85817,567 1,291 7.3
2025/11 15,8930 15,893 0.0

0K

5K

10K

15K

20K

25K

30K

35K

20
24

/11

20
24

/12

20
25

/01

20
25

/02

20
25

/03

20
25

/04

20
25

/05

20
25

/06

20
25

/07

20
25

/08

20
25

/09

20
25

/10

20
25

/11

SoldUsage
PurchaseUsage

U
sage

Sold vs PurchasedSold vs Purchased

PDF PAGE 26 OF 58



A/R Aging Report 112/12/2025

Name Balance Current 30 Days 60-Days 90-Days

12/12/2025

12/1/2025
Acct

471.04 493.81 365.65 262.311,592.819665 Teal LnGuerra, Diego & Marissa291
288.13 446.00 543.381,277.51Durham Grn HOA - 9500 VanDurham Green Home Owners616

90.04 231.91 231.58 187.20740.739369 La Rose CtSeegert, James683
139.04 272.82 230.84642.709462 Van Ness WayGilmore, James622
100.04 191.95 184.49476.4809434 Van Ness WayMarrs, Michael659

64.84 95.76 101.41 196.58458.592539 Burdick RdChristofferson, Jason258
65.04 69.97 83.61 166.67385.292374 Serviss St - Apt ABailey, Catherine93
74.84 66.07 65.23 82.06288.202370 Serviss StHorn, Howard128
71.04 92.51 63.92 56.22283.699206 Holland AveCatomerisios, Cathy15
50.84 63.42 80.52 86.35281.132459 Durham-Dayton HwyStuart, Kristiaan976
61.84 66.21 62.26 88.00278.319259 MidwaySanchez, Jose919
79.73 66.65 65.69 64.75276.822410 Brown StGrigsby, Daniel114
79.73 66.65 65.69 64.74276.812420 Serviss StHilliard, Linda69
43.84 38.37 37.84 154.32274.379261 MidwayTejeda, Alicia211
43.84 40.35 38.79 150.22273.202397 Florida LnQuaintance, Ken210
51.84 59.04 144.27255.152553 Durham-Dayton HwySchell, Daniel and Korena945
58.04 49.17 51.64 92.25251.109393 Goodspeed StBailey, Catherine226
43.84 37.70 37.17 108.37227.082390 Brown StMCS1001
61.04 56.75 51.94 50.04219.772489 Nakia CtTrujillo, Nick691
45.84 45.50 38.86 84.02214.229255 Goodspeed StLavorko, Brett178
48.84 53.35 52.59 50.83205.612393 Brown StHait, Jed22
48.84 52.26 48.33 52.70202.139180 Goodspeed StCipolla, Jennifer54

Total $9,381.72 $2,082.15 $2,656.22 $2,645.70 $1,997.6522

PDF PAGE 27 OF 58



Board of Directors **Special Meeting Minutes** October 8, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 1 of 3 

DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT  
Meeting Minutes 

**Special Board Meeting** 
Board of Directors: 

Matt Doyle, Chair; Kevin Phillips, Treasurer; Derek Sohnrey 
Wednesday, October 8, 2025 District Office 
5:30 PM 9341 Midway, Unit B 

Durham CA 95938 

1 CALL TO ORDER – 5:30 PM 
Present:  Directors Doyle, Phillips and Sohnrey.  
Absent:  NONE 
Also present:  District Engineer Robin Kampmann; District Counsel Sean Cameron 
(remote), Public Outreach Nicole Johansson; and Administrative Assistant Jeannie 
Trizzino. 

2 ROLL CALL / OPENING BUSINESS 

2.1  AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS AND/OR DELETIONS – NO CHANGES. 

2.2  PUBLIC COMMENT 
Mr. Patrick Button commented that new fireflow requirements will require millions of 
dollars to implement; where is the money to come from to maintain the minimum pressure 
needed for fire protections? The funds to do this will come from existing rate payers. The 
last rate increases stated that new development should pay for itself, but the adopted rates 
did not reflect that. He further asked for the justification for the Brown-Faber line 
replacement. He stated that he has not received an answer from the District when he has 
asked this in the past.  

Ms. Katy Azevedo asked about nonpayment of water bills and water shut offs. 

Director Phillips explained that it is District policy to not turn off water and instead use the 
county lien process.  

3 PROPOSITION 218 – Administrative Objection Public Hearing 

3.1  Public Hearing to consider timely submitted Administrative Objections and Findings and to 
determine whether the Protest Hearing scheduled for October 15, 2025 (concurrent with 
the regular board meeting) will go forward. 

SUBJECT: Review draft written responses to the objection and review the summary of 
the findings.  
FISCAL IMPACT: Increased rates as described in the Proposition 218 Notice. 
ACTION REQUESTED: Approve findings prepared by District Counsel after review of 
administrative objections.  

District Counsel Sean Cameron explained the rate increase process and referred to the 
summary memorandum to the single administrative objection received by the District. 

PDF PAGE 28 OF 58

4.2a



Board of Directors  **Special Meeting Minutes** October 8, 2025 
 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 2 of 3 

Based on that, he recommended that the District proceed with the rate increase 
process. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 5:46 PM 
 
Mr. Button commented that the CalFire Chief noted at a previous District board meeting 
that the District’s water pressure is sufficient.  
 
Mr. Button commented that the administrative remedy portion of the rate increase 
process is complete but asked whether a tort complaint could now be pursued.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 5:48 PM 
 
District Counsel Cameron commented that the administrative remedy procedure does 
not preclude tort proceedings. 
 
A motion was made by Director Phillips and seconded by Director Sohnrey to adopt 
the written responses as the District’s formal responses to timely Administrative 
Objections pursuant to Gov. Code § 53759.1(c); include this document in the 
administrative record for the 2025 – 2030 Water Rate proceeding; and finally to Direct 
staff to proceed with the Prop 218 Protest Hearing scheduled for October 15, 2025. 
 
Aye:  3 – Doyle, Phillips, Sohnrey by roll call vote 
Nay:   0 
Absent:   0 

4 REGULAR AGENDA 

4.1  Vina GSA Director 
SUBJECT: Select and approve regular and alternate directors to attend Vina GSA Board 
monthly meetings. Director Doyle currently serves as regular director and Director 
Phillips serves as alternate. Director Doyle asks the Board to consider and select a new 
regular director to serve as the Durham Irrigation District representative at Vina GSA 
board meetings.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Approve regular and alternate directors to serve on the Vina GSA 
Board. 
 
A motion was made by Director Phillips and seconded by Director Sohnrey to approve 
the nomination of Derek Sohnrey as regular director on the Vina GSA Board of 
Directors. Kevin Phillips will remain the alternate director. 
Aye:  3 – Doyle, Phillips, Sohnrey 
Nay:   0 
Absent:   0 

5 CLOSED SESSION - NONE 

PDF PAGE 29 OF 58



Board of Directors  **Special Meeting Minutes** October 8, 2025 
 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 3 of 3 

6 FUTURE AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION 

7 DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 

8 ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 5:55 pm.  
 
Adjourn to the next Regular Board Meeting at 5:30 p.m. on October 15, 2025, 

concurrent with Proposition 218 Protest Hearing.  
 
All meetings will be held at the District office at 9341 Midway, Unit B unless otherwise 

noted.  

PDF PAGE 30 OF 58



Durham Irrigation District  Page 1 of 4 

DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT  
Meeting Minutes 

Regular Board Meeting 
Board of Directors: 

Matt Doyle, Chair; Kevin Phillips, Treasurer; Derek Sohnrey 
Wednesday, October 15, 2025 District Office 
5:30 PM 9341 Midway, Unit B 

Durham CA 95938 

1 CALL TO ORDER – 5:31 PM 
Present:  Directors Doyle and Sohnrey.  
Absent:  Director Phillips 
Also present:  District Engineer Robin Kampmann, District Engineer Holly Kaschmitter, 
District Counsel Amanda Uhrhammer, Water Operator Adam Daigle; Public Outreach 
Nicole Johansson; and Administrative Assistant Jeannie Trizzino. 

2 ROLL CALL / OPENING BUSINESS 

2.1 AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS AND/OR DELETIONS – NO CHANGES 

2.2 PUBLIC COMMENT – NONE 

3 REPORTS/ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM DIRECTORS 

3.1 VINA GSA REPORT (Vina GSA Calendar Link) 
SUBJECT: Status report on Vina GSA. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

4 INFORMATION/CONSENT CALENDAR 

4.1 Warrant Sheet from September 15, 2025 to October 10, 2025, including payments, 
deposits, and transaction adjustments.  
SUBJECT: Approve payments, deposits, and transaction adjustments. 
FISCAL IMPACT: See warrants. 
ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE 

4.2 Board of Directors Meeting Minutes for September 17, 2025. 
SUBJECT: Approve draft minutes. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE. 
ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE 
A motion was made by Director Sohnrey and seconded by Director Doyle to approve 
Items 4.1, and 4.2 of the Consent Agenda. 
Aye:  2 – Doyle, Sohnrey 
Nay:   0 
Absent:  1 – Phillips 

PDF PAGE 31 OF 58

4.2b

https://www.vinagsa.org/calendar


Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes October 15, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 2 of 4 

5 Proposition 218 Water Rate Public Hearing 

5.1  Introduction and Overview of Proposed Water Rates 
District Counsel Uhrhammer summarized the Proposition 218 Notice and the 
Administrative Objection process. Engineer Holly Kaschmitter summarized the cost-of-
service analysis that underlies the proposed water rate. Significantly, the cost-of-service 
analysis showed that District expenses exceed District revenues, with a projected deficit 
of $30,000 at the end of 2026.  
 
District Counsel Uhrhammer noted that there are 452 unique APNs in the District, and 
that more than 50% protest ballots would be needed to stop the proposed rate 
increase.  

5.2  Public Hearing: Receive written protests and public comment regarding the proposed 
water rates. Only valid written protests will be tabulated. 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive public comments. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 5:40 PM 

 
Director’s comments: 
 
Director Doyle notes that he has been in the District as s customer for over eight years 
and seen a lot of small repairs underway, but that has been insufficient to fully update 
the system. He noted that in the past CalWater did not want to pay the District to 
purchase its system, hence Durham Irrigation District remains a publicly owned agency. 
If no changes are made, the system will not be functioning 75 years from now. He noted 
that while his home is in a newer part of town that has not experienced many shutoffs, 
the rate increase and associated capital improvements will help the folks in the older 
part of town that have been subject to repeated shutoffs for repairs to older sections of 
the system.  
 
Director Sohnrey noted that while he does not want to pay a higher water bill, he would 
like to see the system upgraded and be reliable. Having safe water and reliable service is 
his primary concern.  
 
Director Doyle clarified that no accounts would switch from flat to metered connections. 
Metered connections will stay metered, and unmetered connections that do not have 
work orders for meter installation will stay unmetered for the moment.  
 
Ms. Atteberry commented that plumbing work on her parcel was expensive and difficult 
due to the age of the lines. She noted that her situation was likely similar to the what 
the District faces with its older service lines as well.  
 
Mr. Button commented that Proposition 218 was passed thirty years ago and that it 
expressly limited rate increases to cover only the cost of system repair and replacement. 
He asked about the justification for the decision to replace a segment of the Brown-
Faber pipeline and why that decision was not documented in the record. He further 
asked why pipelines were being enlarged to accommodate fireflow.  
 

PDF PAGE 32 OF 58



Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes October 15, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 3 of 4 

Mr. Button noted that in 2023 he had personally collected 100 protest ballots by going 
door to door. He felt that the protest ballot system is rigged. He commented that the 
higher rates will increase the amount of unpaid bills and increase the frequency and 
dollar amount of overdue accounts.  
 
Ms. Atteberry commented that in the past Durham Mosquito Abatement District held a 
Prop 218 process in the past that consisted of a simply yes/no vote, not a protest ballot, 
and that the rate increase was supported by the public.  
 
Director Doyle commented that the District followed the law in its conduct leading to 
the rate increase.  
 
Mr. Button commented that the District had a choice whether to run a Proposition 218 
protest ballot or a regular vote.  
 

5.3  Tabulation of Written Protests 
 
Director Doyle and Sohnrey reviewed the protest ballots.  
 
District Counsel Uhrhammer announced that there were 19 verified protest ballots and 
1 unverified protest ballot. 

5.4  Adoption of Proposed Water Rates 
FISCAL IMPACT: Significant increase in rates from 2025-2030: 25% rate increase for both 
fixed and usage rates for 2025/2026, followed by an annual 10% increase for the fixed 
and usage rates in 2027 to 2030. 
ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Resolution 2025-05 – Adopting Proposed Water Rates  
 
A motion was made by Director Sohnrey and seconded by Director Doyle to Adopt 
Resolution 2025-05 – Adopting Proposed Water Rates. 
Aye:  2 – Doyle, Sohnrey by roll call vote 
Nay:   0 
Absent:   1 – Phillips 
 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 6:01 PM 

6 DISTRICT ENGINEER REPORT 

6.1  Service Line realignment at 9405 Midway (NW corner Midway and Durham Dayton Hwy) 
SUBJECT: Service Line runs beneath another parcel.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
Direction given to District Engineer to draft a letter from the District to both parties. 

6.2  USBR Grant-Funded Meter Replacement and Lead Service Laterals Assessment Project 
SUBJECT: USBR Grant reimbursement update.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

PDF PAGE 33 OF 58



Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes October 15, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 4 of 4 

7 DISTRICT OUTREACH REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Report by Nicole Johansson on the following areas:  
(a) Funding opportunities / legislative outreach  
(b) Regroup Mass notification system – use of system - notification policy 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
No update on funding opportunities. Staff and Director Phillips have received notes on 
draft mass notification policy.  

8 WATER OPERATOR REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 

8.1  Monthly Water Operator Report 
SUBJECT: Report by water operator on previous month’s activities. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
Water operator Mike Butler reported that he continues to install water meters and close 
work orders.  

9 DISTRICT COUNSEL REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Verbal report by counsel on district-related activities. See also regular agenda.  
 
The Board thanked Ms. Uhrhammer for her services to the District as counsel for the 
past year. 

10 REGULAR AGENDA 

10.1  Strategic Planning – Director Doyle 
SUBJECT: Updates on strategic planning action items and goals. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 

11 FUTURE AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION 

12 DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 

13 ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:33 pm. 
 
Adjourn to the next Regular Board Meeting at 5:30 p.m. on November 19, 2025. 
 
All meetings will be held at the District office at 9341 Midway, Unit B unless otherwise 

noted.  

PDF PAGE 34 OF 58



Durham Irrigation District  Page 1 of 4 

DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT  
Meeting Minutes 

Regular Board Meeting 
Board of Directors: 

Matt Doyle, Chair; Kevin Phillips, Treasurer; Derek Sohnrey 
Wednesday, November 19, 2025 District Office 
5:30 PM 9341 Midway, Unit B 

Durham CA 95938 

1 CALL TO ORDER – 5:37 PM; board deliberations commenced upon arrival of Director 
Phillips at 5:40 pm. 

Present:  Directors Doyle, Phillips and Sohnrey. 
Absent:  NONE 
Also present:  District Engineer Robin Kampmann; District Counsel Sophia Meyer 
(remote), Public Outreach Nicole Johansson; and Admin. Assistant Jeannie Trizzino. 

2 ROLL CALL / OPENING BUSINESS 

2.1 AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS AND/OR DELETIONS – NO CHANGES 

2.2 PUBLIC COMMENT 

3 REPORTS/ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM DIRECTORS 

3.1 VINA GSA REPORT (Vina GSA Calendar Link) 
SUBJECT: Status report on Vina GSA. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

4 INFORMATION/CONSENT CALENDAR 

4.1 Warrant Sheet from October 10, 2025 to November 10, 2025, including payments, 
deposits, and transaction adjustments.  
SUBJECT: Approve payments, deposits, and transaction adjustments. 
FISCAL IMPACT: See attachments. 
ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE 

4.2 2026 District Calendar 
SUBJECT: Approve 2026 schedule of District board meetings.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE. 
ACTION REQUESTED: Approve 2026 schedule of board meetings. 
A motion was made by Director Phillips and seconded by Director Sohnrey to approve 
Items 4.1, and 4.2 of the Consent Agenda with direction to staff to correct a minor 
date error in Item 4.2 – 2026 District Calendar. 
Aye:  3 – Doyle, Phillips, Sohnrey 
Nay:   0 
Absent:  0 

PDF PAGE 35 OF 58

4.2c

https://www.vinagsa.org/calendar


Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes November 19, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 2 of 4 

5 DISTRICT ENGINEER REPORT 

5.1  Service Line realignment at 9405 Midway (NW corner Midway and Durham Dayton Hwy) 
SUBJECT: A water service line runs beneath another parcel’s concrete parking lot. The 
owner of the parcel was notified by letter in August 2025 that this service line needs to 
be moved, at his expense, so that it no longer underlies another parcel. The District gave 
direction to the District Engineer to prepare letters for both property owners clarifying 
the steps that have already been taken and that the next steps would be considered a 
civil matter.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
District Engineer directed to prepare a letter to two parcel owners in coordination with 
District Counsel District Counsel asked to prepare a legal opinion on the matter to serve 
as guidance for future similar situations.  

5.2  Service Line realignment at 9260 Goodspeed. 
SUBJECT: The service line for this address runs beneath private property and will need 
to be relocated so that it connects to a separate District service line. The Board is asked 
to give direction to District Engineer to communicate with the owner to accomplish this 
line relocation, at their expense, so that it no longer underlies another parcel. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information. 
 
District Engineer reported that she has drafted the letter and will work with District 
Counsel to finalize and close the matter. 

5.3  2026 District Budget and Capital Improvement Project List Update 
SUBJECT: As part of its 2025-2030 strategic plan, the District directed the District 
Engineer to prepare a budget for 2026 and to adjust and update the District’s CIP list.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
District Engineer presented a draft single-year budget for 2026, noting that PGE charges 
have increased much more than anticipated, so future increases are not easy to predict. 
She will meet with District staff to review line-item charges for the upcoming year. The 
board directed District Engineer to ensure a line item or category for capital 
improvement funds.  

5.4  USBR Grant-Funded Meter Replacement and Lead Service Laterals Assessment Project 
SUBJECT: USBR Grant reimbursement update.  
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 

6 DISTRICT OUTREACH REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Report by Nicole Johansson on the following areas:  
(a) Funding opportunities / legislative outreach  
(b) Regroup Mass notification system – use of system - notification policy 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 

PDF PAGE 36 OF 58



Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes November 19, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 3 of 4 

ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
The board directed Johansson to hold off on grant pursuits; the District will be occupied 
with the community funding grant for the water storage tank project from Congressman 
LaMalfa’s office.  

7 WATER OPERATOR REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 

7.1  Monthly Water Operator Report 
SUBJECT: Report by water operator on previous month’s activities. 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
Water Operator Mike Butler reported that there was flooding at the Holland Well site  
because of issues with the sand filtration system, which he has now corrected. He 
commented that his order for meters for the District was on backorder; he will be able 
to proceed with meter installations once these meters arrive.  

7.2  District Chlorine Supply 
SUBJECT: Report by water operator on chlorine supply options for the District.  
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss and provide direction. 
 
Water Operator Mike Butler reported that he has worked out a chlorine supply 
agreement for 2026. This will be included in the budget presented for Board approval at 
the December 2025 board meeting. Butler further noted that there is a need to 
complete the replacement of the last 400-ft segment of the Brown Faber water line. 
This last segment is a straightforward replacement with no private party complications 
(i.e., a private concrete driveway).  

8 DISTRICT COUNSEL REPORT (NON-ACTION ITEMS) 
SUBJECT: Verbal report by counsel on district-related activities. See also regular agenda.  

9 REGULAR AGENDA 

9.1  Annual Audit - 2024 
SUBJECT: 2024 Audit Report by Horton McNulty and Saeteurn LLP 
FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information and discuss 2024 audit. 
 
Director Phillips noted that he collaborated with the auditor to finalize the audits. He 
noted that he will bring forward an investment policy for board approval at the 
December board meeting.  
A motion was made by Director Phillips and seconded by Director Sohnrey to accept 
the 2024 District Audit. 
Aye:  3 – Doyle, Phillips, Sohnrey 
Nay:   0 
Absent:   0 

PDF PAGE 37 OF 58



Board of Directors  Meeting Minutes November 19, 2025 

Durham Irrigation District  Page 4 of 4 

9.2  Strategic Planning – Director Doyle 
SUBJECT: Updates on strategic planning action items and goals. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 
 
Board discussed staffing and consolidation of tasks, and scheduled preparation for 
board expansion to five seats to the end of 2027.  

9.3  Mass Notification Policy 
SUBJECT: Updates on strategic planning action items and goals. 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown 
ACTION REQUESTED: Receive information, discuss, and provide direction. 
 
Draft mass notification policy discussed and planned for adoption at December 2025 
board meeting.  

10 FUTURE AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION 
Director Phillips will put forward a District Leak Adjustment Policy to offer customers 
one-time relief from catastrophic leaks.  
 
Director Phillips will also put forward a Low Income Assistance Policy for rate payers to 
assist low-income community members.  
 
Finally, Director Phillips asked the board and staff to consider steps to put the District 
logo on the Durham “D” sign on Durham-Dayton Highway between Midway and 
Highway 99. 
 
Director Doyle will put forward an agenda item to develop backup administrative staff 
for the District.  

11 DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 
Director Phillips noted that he will be serving on the California Special Districts 
Association Board of Directors starting in January 2026. He will attend the quarterly 
meetings of their board and the annual conference.  
 
Director Sohnrey thanked District Engineer Robin Kampmann for her assistance and 
welcomed and thanked District Counsel Sophia Meyer for attending her first District 
board meeting. 

12 ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:04 pm.  

 
Adjourn to the next  Regular Board Meeting at 5:30 p.m. on December 17, 2025.  

 
All meetings will be held at the District office at 9341 Midway, Unit B unless otherwise 

noted.  

PDF PAGE 38 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

ORIGINAL BUDGET 

2026 

(SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENTS BY SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS) 

Adoption Date: 

PDF PAGE 39 OF 58

5.1



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

2026 ANNUAL BUDGET 

BUDGET SUMMARY 

 

 

 

 

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 19,542 

  

REVENUES  

     Operating Revenue 520,156 

     Other Revenue (Interest)  6,000 

     TOTAL REVENUES 526,156 

  

TOTAL RESOURCES 545,698 

  

DISTRICT BUDGET  

     Contract Services 125,975 

     Administration 26,634 

     District Wages, Taxes, Insurance 52,630 

     O)ice Expenses 31,854 

     Utilities 144,189 

     Water System Regular Operations and Maintenance 85,648 

     Water System Repairs and Replacement 57,750 

     Capital Improvement Projects  - 

TOTAL BUDGET 524,680 

  

ENDING FUND BALANCE 21,018 

 

 

 

 

PDF PAGE 40 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

2026 ANNUAL BUDGET 

 REVENUES 

 

 

 ACTUAL 

CY 2024 

ACTUAL 2025 

THRU NOV 

ESTIMATED 

CY 2025 

BUDGET 

CY 2026  

     

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 49,920 111,481 111,481 19,542 

     

OPERATING REVENUES     

Demand Fees 240 210 210  

Meter Sales 3,909    

Water Sales 436,363 405,748 440,321 520,156 

     TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 440,512 405,958 440,531 520,156 

     

OTHER REVENUES     

Cash Rewards  217 217  

Interest Income 7,291 6,102 6,502 6,000 

Credit Card Fee Income  3,594 3,594  

     TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 7,291 9,913 10,313 6,000 

     

TOTAL REVENUE 447,803 415,871 450,844 526,156 

     

TOTAL FUND RESOURCES 497,723 527,352 562,325 545,698 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PDF PAGE 41 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

2026 ANNUAL BUDGET 

 EXPENDITURES 

 

 

 ACTUAL 

CY 2024 

ACTUAL 

2025 THRU 

NOV 

ESTIMATED 

CY 2025 

BUDGET 

CY 2026  

CONTRACT SERVICES     

Accounting Fees 25,511 27,535 30,040 18,975 

Engineering Support 56,902 40,763 50,000 70,000 

Legal Fees 14,611 15,133 25,000 25,000 

Management and Administration 9,936 8,831 12,000 12,000 

TOTAL CONTRACT SERVICES 106,960 92,262 117,040 125,975 

     

ADMINISTRATION     

Board Stipends 4,300 4,900 5,200 5,700 

Fees, Dues, Memberships 8,383 13,319 13,319 15,184 

Bank Service Charges 4,652 4,429 5,300 5,750 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 17,335 22,648 23,819 26,634 

     

DISTRICT WAGES, TAXES, 

INSURANCE 

    

Insurance 8,126 7,854 9,345 10,746 

Payroll Service Fees 2,203 1,993 2,335 2,475 

Payroll Tax Expense 2,890 3,112 3,462 3,583 

Property Taxes    12 15 15  

Wages 32,495 32,075 34,120 35,826 

TOTAL DISTRICT WAGES, TAXES,   

INSURANCE 
45,726 45,049 49,277 52,630 

     

OFFICE EXPENSE     

Rent  8,182 10,641 11,591 11,400 

Software Fees and Website Hosting 8,131 10,067 10,770 13,809 

Meals - 141 141 - 

Postage 3,150 3,247 3,947 4,145 

Supplies 1,997 4,350 4,500 2,500 

O)ice Expenses - Other - 406 406 - 

TOTAL OFFICE EXPENSE 21,460 28,852 31,355 31,854 

     

UTILITES     

Garbage 1,644 1,406 1,726 1,812 

Gas & Electric 92,852 107,684 120,184 138,211 

Telephone/Internet 3,746 3,467 3,967 4,166 

TOTAL UTILITES 98,242 112,557 125,877 144,189 

     

REGULAR O&M     

O&M Supplies 13,043 12,103 15,000 15,750 

XiO Software 5,640 5,913 5,913 6,209 

Water Testing Fees 5,822 4,850 5,350 5,617 

PDF PAGE 42 OF 58



 

 

Water Operator  40,114 44,640 46,872 

Weed Management 10,445 10,300 11,200 11,200 

TOTAL REGULAR O&M 34,950 73,280 82,103 85,648 

     

SYSTEM REPAIRS AND REPLACEMENT     

Repairs by Outside Contractor 18,771 47,042 50,000 52,500 

Repairs by Water Operator 42,705 4,687 5,000 5,250 

TOTAL SYSTEM REPAIRS AND 

REPLACEMENT 
61,476 51,729 55,000 57,750 

     

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS     

Brown Faber Replacement (242LF) - 51,426 51,426 - 

      TOTAL CIP EXPENSES - 51,426 51,426 - 

     

OTHER EXPENSES     

Development Project Fees 93 - - - 

Miscellaneous Other Expense  6,886 6,886  

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 93 - - - 

     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 386,242 484,689 542,783 524,680 

     

TOTAL ENDING FUND BALANCE 111,481 42,663 19,542 23,519 

 

PDF PAGE 43 OF 58



DURHAM IRRIGATION DISTRICT

CIP - PROJECT LIST and PROJECT COSTS
2026 Budget Update

Project # Project Description Project  Cost

1 Lead Service Pipe Study - PROJECT COMPLETED UNDER USBR GRANT -$                        

2 Wharf Hydrant Replacement (Not included in Phase 1 and Phase 2 Projects) 50,490.00$            

3 Isolation Valve Replacement/Installation - District Wide (Not included in Phase 1 and Phase 2 Projects) 26,316.00$            

4 Metering of Flat Rate Services - 56 REMAINING AFTER USBR GRANT 186,660.00$          

5 Automatic Meter Reading Conversion 280,000.00$          

6 New 8" Main on Midway - Durham St. to Brown St. (Complete Loop) 324,436.50$          

7 New 8" Main on Midway - South Loop Connection 254,133.00$          

8 Durham Dayton Hwy. - Replace 6" Main with 8" Main 246,483.00$          

9 Alley Between Brown & Faber - Replace Reamaining 508LF 4" Main with  6" Main 165,451.18$          

10 Serviss St. - Replace 4" Main with 8" Main 420,903.00$          

11 Florida Ln. - Replace 4" Main with 8" Main 399,483.00$          

12 Brown St.  - Replace 4" Main with 8" Main - Abandon Alley 386,478.00$          

13 Alley Between Midway & Goodspeed - Replace  4" Main with  8" Main 525,555.00$          

14 Alley Between Campbell & Faber - Replace  4" Main with  8" Main 280,219.50$          

15 Alley Between Holland & Goodspeed - Replace  6" Main with  8" Main 619,956.00$          

16 Alley Between Campbell & Durham - Replace  4" Main with  8" Main 219,861.00$          

17 Abandon Ex. Main in Backyards of Houses South of Durham Dayton - Connect Existing Services to 8" Main in Durham Dayton 38,250.00$            

18 Alley West of Well #3 & South of Durham Dayton Hwy. - Replace  2" Main with  8" Main 211,522.50$          

19 Alley Loop North of Durham Dayton & South DUSD/DPRD - Replace  6" Main with  8" Main (Partially completed by DUSD and DRPD) 282,132.00$          

20 6" Back Yard Main near West PL of DUSD - Abandon 6" and shift service connections from the rear to the front of the lots 195,075.00$          

21 Goodspeed St. - Durham Dayton to Durham St, Durham St - Alley to Midway - New 8" Main - Abandon Alley between Durham Dayton and Durham St. 316,786.50$          

22 Sakeley Lane - Replace 2" Main with 6" Main 128,902.50$          

23 Holland Avenue - Replace 2" Main with 8" Main 289,017.00$          

Infrastructure Improvements Total 5,848,110.68$     

24 Well Station 3 Upgrades (New Well, Building & Generator) 1,499,400.00$      

25 Well Station #5 - 1.0 MG Steel Reservoir with Booster Pump ($2,000,000 Federal Grant) 677,500.00$          

26 Well Station #4 Replacement 1,193,400.00$      

27 Well Station #5 Lining 688,500.00$          

Well Improvements Total 4,058,800.00$     

PHASE ONE CAPITAL BUDGET 3,020,753.18$      

PHASE TWO CAPITAL BUDGET 2,179,867.50$      

TOTAL OF PHASE ONE AND PHASE TWO CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 5,200,620.68$     

ADDITIONAL NOT INCLUDED IN PHASE ONE AND PHASE TWO 5,383,790.00$      

TOTAL OF ALL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 10,584,410.68$   

Infrastructure Improvements

PDF PAGE 44 OF 58



Order No Tap Issued Completed Name Assigned to

12/12/2025 1Work Order List

Location

112 920 R10/13/21
Ilukowicz & Leach

Meter Install 2542 Durham-Dayton 

039-450014
Install meter.
10/26/2021 - install meter on previously unmetered account. Meter fee paid under Acct 282.

119 201 R10/28/21
Mattei
Henry Meter Install 2425 Durham St

040-221-001
Replace meter.
10/27/2022 - water operator contacted owner; cannot locate meter box. Will have Advanced Leak Detection search for meter
box.
10/28/2021 - meter not working; estimated readings since 5/26/2020.

194 955 R8/3/22
Crete
Caitlin and Michael Meter Install 2514 Durham-Dayton 

039-450-005
Install meter.
8/3/2022 - Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate).
New meter fee has been paid under Acct 248.

223 962 R1/24/23
Gillham
Geraldine Meter Install 9348 Midway

040-200-095
Install meter.
1/4/2023 jlt: Install new meter for a previously unmetered account (conversion from flat rate).
Also update meter book - need to add new page.
New meter fee has been charged to Acct 72.

228 964 R2/27/23
Wagner
Carol Meter Install 2393 Durham St

040-221-008
Install meter.
2/27/2023: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (conversion from flat rate). Owner identified by APN
lookup.
Also update meter book - need to add new page.
New meter fee has been paid under acct 123.

231 18 R3/23/23
Bennett
Rosemary Meter Install 2404 Serviss St

040-240-006
Install meter.
03/21/2023 jlt: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate).
Please also install a customer shut-off valve on their side of the meter.
New meter fee has been billed (03/2023).

241 173 R4/26/23
Staples
John Meter Install 2381 Durham St

040-221-011
Replace meter.
4/26/2023 - meter broken

243 285 R4/26/23
Caskey
Bonnie Meter Install 2554 Durham-Dayton 

PDF PAGE 45 OF 58

7.1b



Order No Tap Issued Completed Name Assigned to

12/12/2025 2Work Order List

Location
039-450-018
Replace meter. 
4/26/2023 jlt: water operator reports meter is broken. 

247 88 R5/15/23
Moffitt
Brian Meter Install 2395 Serviss St

040-240-033
Install meter. 
5/15/2023 jlt: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (conversion from flat rate). 
See: Ltr. to Owner - Acct 88 (05.09.2023) meter conversion. Meter fee paid under Acct 88.

252 4 R7/27/23
Amator
Albert Meter Install 2399 Campbell St

040-223-005
Replace meter. 
7/27/2023: Water Operator reports meter is broken. Sight glass is scratched.

254 279 R7/28/23
Patterson
James Meter Install 2534 Durham-Dayton 

039-450-011
Replace meter. 
7/28/2023: Water Operator reports scratched sight glass.

267 975 R9/20/23
Boe
Thomas and Valerie Meter Install 9304 Holland Ave

040-223-021
Install meter.
9/20/2023 - Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate). 
New meter fee has been paid under Acct 97.

288 688 R4/23/24
Mini-Storage
Midway Meter Install 9318 Midway

040-200-088
Change meter.
03/27/2025 jlt: Note: Acct billing rate was changed to 1" / Rate 220 in advance of physical meter change.
04/23/2024 jlt: replace 1" meter with 3/4" meter.

293 217 R5/24/24
Samuelson
Randy Meter Install 9353 Goodspeed St

040-221-014
Install meter.
5/24/2024 jlt: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate). 
New meter fee has been paid under Acct 217.

304 315 R7/25/24
Bryant
Kenneth and Jennifer Meter Install 2514 Burdick Rd

039-540-010
Replace meter.
7/25/2024 jlt: Water Operator reports sight scratched and unreadable.

309 129 R9/24/24
Hindman
Robert Meter Install 2404 Campbell St

040-221-018
Replace meter.
9/24/2024: Repeated identical readings.

PDF PAGE 46 OF 58



Order No Tap Issued Completed Name Assigned to

12/12/2025 3Work Order List

Location

328 133 R3/26/25
Lybbert
Wes Meter Install 2370 Campbell St

040-222-006
Replace meter
3/21/2025 - Water Operator reports repeated estimated readings and possible broken meter. 

329 988 R3/27/25
Steffen
Cindy and Thomas Meter Install 9339 Goodspeed St

040-223-009
Install meter.
03/27/2025 jlt: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate). 
New meter fee paid under Acct 261.

334 108 R7/30/25
Spohr
Teresa Water Operator 9260 Goodspeed St

040-250-001
8/??/2025 jlt: water operator installed meter blank in new location; customer to move and connect their service line to this new
meter. 
7/30/2025 jlt: USBR meter installed in wrong location; water operator will relocate and reinstall after consultation with owner
and district engineer.

336 1006 R8/14/25
Carlson
Daniel Meter Install 2368 Brown St

040-231-025
Install Meter
040-231-025
8/15/2025 jlt: Property sold. OLD WO#244 is closed and NEW WO#336 opened for new Acct 1006.
Notes from WO#244: 
3/27/25 jlt: locate and prep service for new meter install.
5/2/2023 jlt: Iinstall new meter for a previously unmetered account (new connection or conversion from flat rate). 
New meter fee has been paid. 

340 85 R9/26/25
Spafford
Kevin Meter Install 9639 Duckling Dr

039-520-030
Replace meter
9/19/2025 jlt: Replace meter. 

342 1012 R11/20/25
Black
James and Cynthia Meter Install 9337 Holland Avenue

039-460-031
Install meter. 
11/21/2025 jlt: Please install new meter for a previously unmetered account (conversion from flat rate). 
Also update meter book - need to add new page.
New meter fee has been paid. 

343 182 R11/24/25
Funkhouser
Richard Meter Install 2388 Serviss St

040-240-052
Replace meter.
11/22/2025 jlt
Meer reading incorrect value according to water operator.

PDF PAGE 47 OF 58



12/12/2025 1
Work Order Statistics

01/01/2021 thru 12/30/2025

Year Month Issued Complete Open Avg Comp Days Avg Open Days
2021 09 0986 6
2021 10 153126824 22 2
2021 11 0692 2
2021 12 018612 12
2022 01 0477 7
2022 02 024212 12
2022 03 01816 6
2022 04 0243 3
2022 05 0215 5
2022 06 0896 6
2022 07 0102 2
2022 08 12452078 7 1
2022 09 0697 7
2022 10 055 5
2022 11 0131 1
2022 12 01541 1
2023 01 10712998 7 1
2023 02 10371782 1 1
2023 03 10134067 6 1
2023 04 9793199 7 2
2023 05 9606093 2 1
2023 07 8862357 5 2
2023 08 0556 6
2023 09 832758 7 1
2023 10 042 2
2023 11 001 1
2023 12 01423 3
2024 01 0994 4
2024 02 01972 2
2024 03 03953 3
2024 04 616612 1 1
2024 05 585877 6 1
2024 06 021 1
2024 07 523-949208 7 1
2024 08 01082 2
2024 09 462735 4 1
2024 10 011 1
2024 11 033 3
2024 12 0482 2
2025 01 0625 5
2025 02 0532 2
2025 03 27802 2
2025 04 081 1
2025 06 0112 2
2025 07 15301 1
2025 08 138245 4 1
2025 09 9501 1
2025 10 0211 1
2025 11 3802 2
2025 12 001 1

50 Items

226 203 23

PDF PAGE 48 OF 58



Strategic Plan 12.2025 update

12/10/2025 update R - Responsible - doing the task C - Consulted - assisting with information
A - Accountable - overseeing the task I - Informed - communication out

Durham Irrigation District is a community-led district committed to meeting the water needs of the residents of Durham safely, sustainably, reliably, and cost-effectively.

Item TYPE
% 

Complete
Action Step/Task

MD - 
BOD

KP - 
BOD

DS - 
BOD

JT - 
STAFF

BKKPR NJ - PR
RK - 
ENG

SM - 
LGL

WATER
OP

COMM'Y
COMP
DATE

A Strength  20%
DID team - provide resources they need: 
more staff --> GM

A A, R A C C 7/1/2027

C Strength 25%
DID Team - training opportunities -board 
training - CSDA Annual Conference

R, A R R C, I

CSDA Annual 
Conference - 
8/2026 Palm 
Desert, CA

D Strength 0%
DID Team - training for new board 
members; create Board Training packet

A A A R C C C 1/1/2027

G Strength 0%
Service minded approach - more office 
hours for customers 
(also see Item A)

A A,R A C C 7/1/2027

I Strength 5%
Small and Mighty - enlarge board to 5 
directors - filing paperwork, prepare to be 
placed on ballot; expand staff

A A, R A C R I 12/31/2027

J Weakness 15%

Size of Organization - talk to Durham 
Mutual Water cost-sharing 
(see Items A and G)

Size of Organization - partner with others 
on overhead costs - speak to neighboring 
districts on interests (30-mile radius)

I I R C C C 12/1/2025

L Weakness 5%
Limited funding and resources - create 
budget, including a line item for training

A A A C R C 12/25/2025

Page 1 of 3 PDF PAGE 49 OF 58

9.1



Strategic Plan 12.2025 update

12/10/2025 update R - Responsible - doing the task C - Consulted - assisting with information
A - Accountable - overseeing the task I - Informed - communication out

Durham Irrigation District is a community-led district committed to meeting the water needs of the residents of Durham safely, sustainably, reliably, and cost-effectively.

Item TYPE
% 

Complete
Action Step/Task

MD - 
BOD

KP - 
BOD

DS - 
BOD

JT - 
STAFF

BKKPR NJ - PR
RK - 
ENG

SM - 
LGL

WATER
OP

COMM'Y
COMP
DATE

M Weakness 0%

Limited funding and resources - grant 
funding  - identify long-term grant 
resources - identify 3 to pursue (1/1/2026)

Limited funding and resources - grant 
funding - identify grant writer (included in 
2026 budget) (7/1/2026)

Aging infrastructure - create funding 
mechanisms such as financing 
opportunities, grants, bonds, etc. (no date)

Funding / grants - explore opportunities 
(6/1/2026)

Funding / grants - be ready to pursue (i.e., 
federal registry, Vina GSA) (7/1/2026)

Form grant committee and be ready to 
submit one grant per year (internal and 
external committee members) (7/1/2026)

R, A R, A R, A C, R 1/1/2026

N Weakness 0%
Aging infrastructure - update longterm CIP - 
Annually

A A A C R C 12/20/2025

O Opportunity 10%
Operating / overhead expense reduction - 
monthly review
budget to actuals report (Quickbooks)

R, A R, A R, A R C 1/31/2026

P Opportunity 10%
Community Education - improve neighbor 
relations
quarterly email newsletter

A A A C R C C 1/1/2026

Page 2 of 3 PDF PAGE 50 OF 58



Strategic Plan 12.2025 update

12/10/2025 update R - Responsible - doing the task C - Consulted - assisting with information
A - Accountable - overseeing the task I - Informed - communication out

Durham Irrigation District is a community-led district committed to meeting the water needs of the residents of Durham safely, sustainably, reliably, and cost-effectively.

Item TYPE
% 

Complete
Action Step/Task

MD - 
BOD

KP - 
BOD

DS - 
BOD

JT - 
STAFF

BKKPR NJ - PR
RK - 
ENG

SM - 
LGL

WATER
OP

COMM'Y
COMP
DATE

T Threats 0%
Natural Disasters - Local Hazard Mitigation 
Plan updates using DID Alert and other 
tools

A A A C R, C C C C 2028 
(due 9/2029)

U Threats 50%
Natural Disasters - Develop emergency 
operations plan + DID Alert 
communications

A A A C R C 7/1/2027

V Threats 5%
Natural Disasters - Mutual Aid and 
tabletop exercise

A R, A A C C  C C I 7/1/2027

Z DONE

Z- B Done Strength 100%
DID Team - Efficiency tools to support 
team -DID Alert operational

I I I C R, A I Q3 9/30/2025

Z -E
Done

Strength 100%
DID - annual training for all employees 
(specifically board secretary)

A A A R 10/30/2025

Z - F Done Strength 100%
Service minded approach  - DID Alert - 75% 
customers enrolled

C C C R, A I 8/1/2026

Z - H  
Done

Strength 100%
Small and Mighty - getting community 
actively involved - DID Alert

C C C R, A 8/26/2025

Z - Q  
DONE

Opportunity 100% Expand Sphere of Influence A, R A, R A, R C C C 12/1/2025

Z - R Done Threats 100%

Federal and State regulatory requirements - 
work with special district assocations 
(CSDA) - annual or twice a year or as-
needed report from local rep

A A A C, R 7/1/2025

Z -S   Done Threats 100%
Litigation - Understand Prop 218 
compliance and comply with law (ongoing)

A A A R 5/6/2025

Page 3 of 3 PDF PAGE 51 OF 58



Page 1 of 3 

Durham Irrigation District 

Emergency Notification System Policy 

1. Purpose
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for the appropriate use of Durham 
Irrigation District’s Emergency Notification System (currently operated through Regroup). 
The system is designed to provide timely and accurate communication to District 
customers, staff, outside consultants (engineering, communications, operations) and 
stakeholders during emergencies and other critical events. 

2. Scope
This policy applies to all Durham Irrigation District employees, contractors, and authorized 
personnel responsible for sending, managing, or responding to notifications issued through 
the Emergency Notification System. 

3. Authorized Use
The Emergency Notification System may be used for: 

• Public Safety Emergencies: Natural disasters (wildfire, flood, earthquake),
hazardous material incidents, or other threats to life and safety.

• Service Disruptions: Water outages, boil water notices, water quality advisories, or
major system repairs impacting customers.

• Operational Emergencies: Situations requiring immediate attention from staff
(infrastructure failure, security incidents, etc.).

• Critical District Information: Urgent announcements authorized by the General
Manager or designee.

The system shall not be used for routine operational updates, general 
announcements, or non-emergency communication. In addition to water shut offs 
and emergency communications, Durham Irrigation District might periodically 
remind customers how to sign up for alerts, update their contact information. 

4. Authority
• Activation: The District Manager (or designee) is the primary authority to approve

and issue emergency notifications.

PDF PAGE 52 OF 58

9.2



 

Page 2 of 3 

• Delegation: In the Manager’s absence, the Operations Supervisor or designated on-
call supervisor may initiate notifications. 

• Content Approval: All messages must be concise, factual, and free of speculation. 
Whenever time permits, a designated member of the Board of Directors shall 
review and approve message content before distribution. In urgent, life-safety 
situations where delay would pose risk, staff are authorized to issue notifications 
immediately and inform the designated Board member as soon as possible. 

5. Message Content and Format 
• Notifications should include: 

o The nature of the emergency or service disruption. 

o The geographic area or customer group affected. 

o Specific instructions for customers or staff (e.g., boil water, conserve water, 
evacuate). 

o The source of the information and contact information for follow-up. 

• All messages must be clear, concise, and professional. 

• Updates shall be issued as new information becomes available and a final “all 
clear” message should be provided when the incident has concluded. 

• GIS mapping tools within the Regroup software will allow for messaging to reach 
only individuals affected by an incident.  

6. Security and Access 
• System access is limited to authorized staff. 

• User accounts must be password-protected and not shared. 

• Training will be provided annually to all authorized staff on proper use of the system. 

7. Recordkeeping 
• All notifications issued through the system shall be logged and archived for 

compliance, review, and after-action reporting. 

• Reports of message delivery and customer response shall be retained for at least 
three years. 

PDF PAGE 53 OF 58



 

Page 3 of 3 

8. Testing 
• The system shall be tested at least twice per year to ensure functionality. 

• Customers will be notified in advance of any test that includes public messaging. 

9. Review and Updates 
This policy shall be reviewed annually by the Board of Directors and updated as necessary 
to reflect changes in technology, regulations, or operational needs. 

10. Compliance with Legal/Regulatory Requirements 
Notifications will comply with all applicable state and federal regulations. 

11. Privacy & Data Protection 
Customer contact information used in the system will be safeguarded, used only for 
emergency purposes, and not shared outside the District. 

12. Accessibility & Equity 
The District will strive to make notifications accessible to all customers, including language 
translation, ADA considerations (for the hearing impaired), or alternative channels if 
available. (this might be covered with the voice mail message capability.) 

13. System Redundancy / Backup 
If the notification system fails, Durham Irrigation District will utilize backup communication 
methods such as door hangers, website updates, social media, radio, or door-to-door 
notifications in extreme cases. 

14. Roles & Responsibilities Clarification 

• Define responsibilities of Board vs. staff more clearly to avoid delays. (e.g., 
“Board members provide oversight, but staff have authority for immediate 
action when time-sensitive.”) Also figure out what we want Mike and Adam to 
do.  

15. False or Misuse of Alerts 

•  Unauthorized or inappropriate use of the system is prohibited, with 
consequences for violations 

PDF PAGE 54 OF 58



Page 1 of 2 

Durham Irrigation District 

Leak Adjustment Policy 

Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to establish clear, consistent, and equitable guidelines for 
evaluating and granting leak adjustments for Durham Irrigation District customers, while 
encouraging timely leak detection and repair. 

1. Customer Responsibility
Customers are responsible for all water that passes through their meter. Any leaks, frozen
or broken pipes, damage, or water loss occurring on the customer’s side of the meter are the
sole responsibility of the customer.

The District may, upon written request, provide a payment plan of up to one year for 
accounts in otherwise good standing—with no penalties—to assist customers in paying 
charges resulting from a verified leak.  

2. Service Charge Classification Protection
An identified leak will not cause the customer to move into a higher service charge
classification if the leak is repaired promptly. Upon request, the District will evaluate
whether a leak affects service classification based on the leak’s cause, magnitude, and
duration.

3. Eligibility for Leak Adjustments
Customers may request a leak adjustment when water loss occurs due to circumstances
beyond their reasonable control, including:

• Mechanical malfunctions
• Blind (unobservable) leaks
• Theft or vandalism
• Unexplained water loss
• Other unusual or emergency conditions

Leak adjustments will *not* be granted for faucet or toilet leaks. 

Requests must be supported with repair bills or other appropriate documentation. 

4. Calculation of Leak Adjustments
The District will determine the volume of water attributable to the leak using historical
usage patterns.

The District Manager, or their designee, may approve an adjustment based on: 

PDF PAGE 55 OF 58

9.3



 

Page 2 of 2 

• The cause of water loss   
• Customer negligence or fault   
• The difficulty of repair   
• Available documentation   

Adjustments are granted at the District’s sole discretion. 

5. Frequency of Leak Adjustments 
A customer may receive **one leak adjustment every three (3) years**. 

6. Customer Request Requirements 
To qualify for an adjustment: 

• The customer must submit a **written request**.  
• Documentation of leak repair must be included.  
• The request must be submitted **within 30 days** after the billing cycle in which 

the leak occurred. 

7. District Determination and Appeals 
All District determinations will be provided in writing and mailed to the owner at the billing 
address on file. 

Customers dissatisfied with a determination may: 

• Submit a **written appeal** to the Board of Directors   
• No later than **60 days** from the date of the staff determination   

Appeals will be considered at a noticed public meeting. 

Policy Adoption 
This policy shall take effect immediately upon approval by the Board of Directors and shall 
be applied uniformly to all customers. 

PDF PAGE 56 OF 58



Page 1 of 2 

Durham Irrigation District 

Customer Assistance Program (CAP) Policy 

1. Purpose
The Durham Irrigation District (DID) Customer Assistance Program (CAP) is established to provide
financial relief to eligible low-income residential customers by reducing their monthly service
charge. The program is funded entirely through voluntary customer donations and any other
contributions expressly designated for CAP support.

2. Program Overview
- Effective January 1, 2026, eligible customers may receive a $5.00 monthly reduction on

their standard residential service charge.
- Funding availability is reviewed annually in December to determine the number of

customers who may be enrolled for the upcoming calendar year.
- Participation is first-come, first-served, subject to available donated funds.
- Customers must re-apply and recertify annually.

3. Voluntary Customer Donation Program
To sustain and expand assistance for low-income customers, DID offers a Voluntary Donation
Option that may be added to any monthly water bill.

3.1 Donation Mechanism 
Customers may choose to donate: 

- A fixed dollar amount (e.g., $1, $5, $10, or other amount), or
- A recurring monthly contribution added directly to their bill.

Donations will appear as a separate line item titled: 

“Customer Assistance Program Contribution (Tax Deductible)” 

3.2 Use of Funds 
All donated funds are recorded as restricted CAP assistance revenue and may only be used to: 

- Offset the monthly service charge for qualifying low-income customers;
- Administer the program, including outreach and verification costs.

No donated funds may be used for general operations. 

3.3 Tax Deductibility 
Because donations are made to a public agency for a public assistance program, contributions are 
considered tax-deductible charitable donations to the extent allowed by law. Annual donation 
summaries will be available upon request for customer tax filings. 

PDF PAGE 57 OF 58

9.4



 

Page 2 of 2 

4. Eligibility Requirements 
Applicants must be active residential customers of DID and provide qualifying proof of income. 
Acceptable documentation includes: 

1. Enrollment in PG&E’s CARE program 
2. CalWORKs, CalFresh, General Assistance, or Medi-Cal 
3. SSI/SSP 
4. WIC 
5. Proof that household income is below 200% of the Federal Poverty Level 

Applications without supporting documentation will not be accepted.  
Both the DID CAP application and proof of income must be submitted together. 

5. Application and Selection Process 
1. DID will announce the number of available CAP slots each December, based on projected 

available donated funds. 
2. Applications will be accepted beginning the first working day of December each year. 
3. Applicants will be approved first-come, first-served until funding capacity is reached. 
4. CAP credits begin January 1 and run through December 31 of the following year. 
5. No retroactive credits will be provided. 
6. Customers must recertify annually to remain eligible. 

6. Program Administration 
- DID will maintain transparent accounting of all CAP-related donations and expenditures. 
- Unused CAP funds will roll forward to support the following year’s program. 
- The Board of Directors may modify program terms at any time. 

7. Customer Outreach 
The District will promote CAP and the voluntary donation option through: 

- Monthly bills and online billing portal; 
- District website; 
- Annual notices and community outreach materials; 
- Partnerships with local assistance agencies. 

8. Policy Authority 
This policy is adopted by the DID Board of Directors. The Board reserves the right to amend, 
suspend, or terminate the CAP at any time. 

PDF PAGE 58 OF 58


	00 Board Agenda (12.17.2025)
	4.1.1 2025-12 Warrant Sheet DRAFT
	4.1.2 Financials (11.2025)
	a. Balance Sheet (11.2025)
	b. Profit and Loss (11.2025)
	c. Profit and Loss Previous Year Comparison (11.2025)
	d. General Ledger (11.2025)

	4.1.3 Board Recap Water Sales and AR Aging Report (11.2025)
	Board Recap (11.2025)
	Metered Water Sales (11.2025)
	AR Aging (12.12.2025)

	4.2a Board Minutes (10.08.2025) DRAFT
	4.2b Board Minutes (10.15.2025) DRAFT
	4.2c Board Minutes (11.19.2025) DRAFT
	5.1 DID 2026 Budget Summary and CIP Update (12.11.2025) for approval
	7.1b Work Order Status Report (12.2025) BOD
	9.1 Strategic Plan Summary Update (12.2025)
	9.2 Mass Notification Policy (11.19.2025) DRAFT
	9.3 Leak Adjustment Policy (12.17.2025) DRAFT
	9.4 Customer Assistance Policy (12.17.2025) DRAFT



